ISSN: 2757-7163



Grand Journal of UROLOGY

January 2024

Volume: 4

Issue: 1

www.grandjournalofurology.com

Grand Journal of UROLOGY

Grand Journal of Urology is published three times a year (January, May, September) GJU is an open access, free and peer-reviewed journal

You can reach publication policies and writing guides from www.grandjournalofurology.com



www.grandjournalofurology.com

Grand Journal of UROLOGY

Owner and Editor-in Chief

Assoc. Prof. Ekrem GUNER, MD University of Health Sciences, Dr. Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, Department of Urology, Bakirkoy, Istanbul, Türkiye Email: ekremguner@grandjournalofurology.com ORCID ID: 0000-0002-4770-7535

Editor

Assoc. Prof. Bekir ARAS, MD Kutahya Health Sciences University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Kutahya, Türkiye Email: bekiraras@grandjournalofurology.com ORCID ID: 0000-0002-7020-8830

Asistant Editor

Assoc. Prof. Abdullah Hizir YAVUZSAN, MD University of Health Sciences, Sisli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, Department of Urology, Sisli, Istanbul, Türkiye Email: hiziryavuzsan@grandjournalofurology.com ORCID ID: 0000-0002-1561-895X

Asistant Editor

Assoc. Prof. Assist. Prof. Mithat EKSİ, MD University of Health Sciences, Dr. Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, Department of Urology, Bakirkoy, Istanbul, Türkiye Email: mithateksi@grandjournalofurology.com ORCID ID: ORCID ID: 0000-0003-1490-3756

Assistant Editor

Emre SAM, MD University of Health Sciences, Regional Training and Research Hospital, Department of Urology, Erzurum, Türkiye Email: emresam@grandjournalofurology.com ORCID ID: 0000-0001-7706-465X

Internal Medicine and Subspecialties Section Editor

Prof. Sebnem Izmir Guner, MD Istanbul Gelisim University, Sisli Memorial Hospital, Department of Hematology and Bone Marrow Transplantation, Istanbul, Türkiye ORCID ID: 0000-0002-6326-9424

Basic Sciences Section Editor

Prof. Nilgun Isıksacan, PhD University of Health Sciences, Dr. Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, Department of Biochemistry and Immunology, Istanbul, Türkiye ORCID ID: 0000-0002-0230-6500

Biostatistical Editor

Fatih AKKAS, MD University of Health Sciences, Regional Training and Research Hospital, Erzurum, Türkiye Email: info@grandjournalofurology.com ORCID ID: 0000-0002-4560-7426

Language Editor

Gurkan KAZANCI, MD, Istanbul, Türkiye Email: info@grandjournalofurology.com

Web Content and Digital Media Editor Publication Coordinator

Servet DIRICANLI, Istanbul, Türkiye Email: info@grandjournalofurology.com

Graphic Designer

Servet DIRICANLI, Istanbul, Türkiye Email: info@grandjournalofurology.com

Publication Type

Periodicals Electronic

Administrative Office

Address: Atakent Mah., 222. Cad., 2 AH., Daire No: 22, 34307, Kucukcekmece, Istanbul, Türkiye E-mail: info@grandjournalofurology.com



■ Oztug Adsan, MD, Professor of Urology TOBB ETU Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Ankara, Turkey

■ Ilham Ahmedov, MD, Professor of Urology Azerbaijan Medical University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Baku, Azerbaijan

■ Ziya Akbulut, MD, Professor of Urology Ankara Liv Hospital, Department of Urology, Ankara, Turkey

Alp Ozgur Akdemir, MD, Professor of Urology

Omer Halisdemir University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Nigde, Turkey

■ Bulent Akduman, MD, Professor of Urology

Bulent Ecevit University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Zonguldak, Turkey

Binhan Kagan Aktas, MD, Associate Professor of Urology

University of Health Sciences, Ankara Bilkent City Hospital, Department of Urology, Ankara, Turkey

Serdar Altinay, MD, PhD, Professor of Pathology

University of Health Sciences, Dr. Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, Department of Pathology, Istanbul, Turkey

■ Fatih Altunrende, MD, Professor of Urology

Istanbul Yeni Yuzyil University, Gaziosmanpasa Hospital, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

Arslan Ardicoglu, MD, Professor of Urology

Yildirim Beyazid University, Ankara City Hospital, Department of Urology, Ankara, Turkey

■ Yilmaz Aslan, MD, Professor of Urology

Üsküdar University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

Feyzi Arda Atar, MD, Associate Professor of Urology

University of Health Sciences, Basaksehir Cam and Sakura City Hospital, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

■ Fatih Atug, MD, Professor of Urology Istanbul Florence Nightingale Hospital, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

Ozlem Altuntas Aydin, MD, Professor of Infectious Diseases

University of Health Sciences, Basaksehir Cam ve Sakura City Hospital, Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Istanbul, Turkey

■ Mustafa Murat Aydos, MD, Associate Professor of Urology

University of Health Sciences, Specialization Training and Research Hospital, Department of Urology, Bursa, Turkey

Melih Balci, MD, Professor of Urology

Üsküdar University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

■ Halil Basar, MD, Professor of Urology

Dr. Abdurrahman Yurtaslan Oncology Training and Research Hospital, Department of Urology, Ankara, Turkey

■ Mehmet Murat Baykam, MD, Professor of Urology Hitit University Faculty of Medicine,

Department of Urology, Corum, Turkey

Omer Bayrak, MD, Professor of Urology

Gaziantep University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Gaziantep, Turkey

Sibel Bektas, MD, Professor of Pathology

University of Health Sciences, Gaziosmanpasa Training and Research Hospital, Department of Pathology, Istanbul, Turkey

■ Huseyin Besiroglu, MD, Associate Professor of Urology

Istanbul University-Cerrahpasa, Cerrahpasa Medicical Faculty, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

Lebriz Uslu Besli, MD, Associate Professor of Nuclear Medicine

Istanbul University-Cerrahpasa, Cerrahpasa Medicical Faculty, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Istanbul, Turkey

Murat Binbay, MD, Professor of Urology
 Bahcesehir University Faculty of Medicine,
 Department of Urology, Memorial Sisli Hospital, Istanbul,
 Turkey

■ Suleyman Bulut, MD, Associate Professor of Urology University of Health Sciences, Ankara City Hospital, Department of Urology, Ankara, Turkey

Sibel Kahraman Cetintas, MD, Associate Professor of Radiation Oncology

Uludag University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Radiation Oncology, Bursa, Turkey

■ Cavit Ceylan, MD, Professor of Urology University of Health Sciences, Ankara City Hospital, Department of Urology, Ankara, Turkey



Huseyin Cihan Demirel, MD, Associate Professor of Urology

Medical Park Florya Hospital, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

Murat Dincer, MD, Associate Professor of Urology

University of Health Sciences, Bagcılar Training and Research Hospital, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

■ Halil Dogan, MD, Associate Professor of Emergency Medicine

University of Health Sciences, Dr. Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, Department of Emergency Medicine, Istanbul, Turkey

■ Kemal Ener, MD, Professor of Urology

Ankara Yıldırım Beyazıt University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

Erkan Erkan, MD, Associate Professor of Urology

University of Health Sciences, Istanbul Training and Research Hospital, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

■ Asuman Gedikbasi, MD, PhD, Professor of Biochemistry and Genetics

Istanbul University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatric Basic Sciences, Istanbul, Turkey

Cevdet Serkan Gokkaya, MD, Professor of Urology

University of Health Sciences, Ankara Bilkent City Hospital, Department of Urology, Ankara, Turkey

■ Zafer Gokhan Gurbuz, MD, Associate Professor of Urology

University of Health Sciences, Adana City Training and Research Hospital, Department of Urology, Adana, Turkey

Ozer Guzel, MD, Associate Professor of Urology

University of Health Sciences, Ankara City Hospital, Department of Urology, Ankara, Turkey

Ozlem Harmankaya, MD, Professor of Nephrology

Biruni University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Nephrology, Istanbul, Turkey

Elif Hocaoglu, MD, Professor of Radiology

University of Health Sciences, Dr. Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, Department of Urology, Ankara, Turkey

■ Andras Hoznek, MD, Professor of Urology Henri-Mondor University Hospital Center, Department of Urology, Paris, France

■ Gurdal Inal, MD, Professor of Urology Medicana International Ankara Hospital, Department of Urology, Ankara, Turkey

Mustafa Kadihasanoglu, MD, Associate Professor of Urology

Istanbul University-Cerrahpasa, Cerrahpasa Medicical Faculty, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

■ Ibrahim Karabulut, MD, Associate Professor of Urology

University of Health Sciences, Erzurum City Hospital, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

■ Mehmet Karabulut, MD, Professor of General Surgery

University of Health Sciences, Dr. Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, Department of General Surgery, Istanbul, Turkey

Didem Karacetin, MD, Professor of Radiation Oncology

University of Health Sciences, Basaksehir Cam ve Sakura City Hospital, Department of Radiation Oncology, Istanbul, Turkey

Mert Ali Karadag, MD, Associate Professor of Urology

University of Health Sciences, Kayseri City Hospital, Department of Urology, Kayseri, Turkey

Mehmet Kaynar, MD, Professor of Urology Selcuk University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Konya, Turkey

■ Ibrahim Keles, MD, Professor of Urology

Afyonkarahisar Health Science University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Afyonkarahisar, Turkey

■ Eray Kemahli, MD, Associate Professor of Urology Abant Izzet Baysal University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Bolu, Turkey

■ Sinan Levent Kirecci, MD, Professor of Urology University of Health Sciences, Sisli Training and Research Hospital, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

■ Tevfik Murat Kosan, MD, Professor of Urology Onsekiz Mart University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Canakkale, Turkey

Eyüp Veli Kucuk, MD, Professor of Urology

University of Health Sciences, Umraniye Training and Research Hospital, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey



■ Fatih Osman Kurtulus, MD, Professor of Urology Nisantasi University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

■ Sven Lahme, MD, Professor of Urology Goldstadt Private Urology Clinic, Department of Urology, Pforzheim, Germany

Meral Mert, MD, Professor of Endocrinology

University of Health Sciences, Dr. Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, Department of Endocrinology, Istanbul, Turkey

Evrim Metcalfe, MD, Professor of Radiation Oncology

Biruni University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Radiation Oncology, Istanbul, Turkey

Emanuele Montanari, MD, Professor of Urology

University of Milan, Maggiore Policlinico Hospital, Department of Urology, Milan, Italy

■ Ural Oguz, MD, Professor of Urology

Giresun University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Giresun, Turkey

■ Mahmut Taha Olcucu, MD, Associate Professor of Urology

University of Health Sciences, Antalya Training and Research Hospital, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

Alper Otunctemur, MD, Professor of Urology

University of Health Sciences, Prof. Dr. Cemil Tascioglu City Hospital, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

Asim Ozayar, MD, Associate Professor of Urology

Yıldırım Beyazid University, Ankara City Hospital, Department of Urology, Ankara, Turkey

Emin Ozbek, MD, Professor of Urology

Istanbul University-Cerrahpasa, Cerrahpasa Medicical Faculty, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

■ Ozdem Levent Ozdal, MD, Professor of Urology

University of Health Sciences, Ankara City Hospital, Department of Urology, Ankara, Turkey

Enver Ozdemir, MD, Professor of Urology

Gaziosmanpasa Taksim Training and Research Hospital, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

Ahmet Tunc Ozdemir, MD, Professor of Urology

Istanbul Florence Nightingale Hospital, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey Cetin Volkan Oztekin, MD, Associate Professor of Urology Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Lefkosa, TRNC

■ Ahmet Rahmi Onur, MD, Professor of Urology Marmara University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

Cuneyt Ozden, MD, Professor of Urology

University of Health Sciences, Ankara City Hospital, Department of Urology, Ankara, Turkey

■ Bulent Ozturk, MD, Professor of Urology Baskent University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Konya, Turkey

■ Sefa Resim, MD, Professor of Urology Sutcu Imam University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Kahramanmaras, Turkey

■ Hasan Salih Saglam, MD, Professor of Urology Sakarya University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Adapazari, Turkey

Damlanur Sakiz, MD, Associate Professor of Pathology

University of Health Sciences, Dr. Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, Department of Pathology, Istanbul, Turkey

Kemal Sarica, MD, Professor of Urology

University of Health Sciences, Sancaktepe Training and Research Hospital Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

■ Christian Seitz, MD, Associate Professor of Urology Vienna Medical University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Vienna, Austria

Emrullah Sogutdelen, MD, Associate Professor of Urology

Abant Izzet Baysal University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Bolu, Turkey

■ Mehmet Giray Sonmez, MD, Associate Professor of Urology

Necmettin Erbakan University, Meram Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Konya, Turkey

Senol Tonyali, MD, Associate Professor of Urology Istanbul University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey



Rustu Turkay, MD, Associate Professor of Radiology University of Health Sciences, Haseki Training and Research Hospital, Department of Radiology, Istanbul, Turkey

■ Ozgur Ugurlu, MD, Professor of Urology Lokman Hekim University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Ankara, Turkey

■ Ercument Ulusoy, MD, Professor of Urology Mersin University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Mersin, Turkey

■ Fatih Uruc, MD, Associate Professor of Urology VM Medical Park Pendik Hospital, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

Ayhan Verit, MD, Professor of Urology

University of Health Sciences, FSM Training and Research Hospital, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

Bekir Voyvoda, MD, MD, Associate Professor of Urology

Medicana Atasehir Hospital, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

■ Yarkin Kamil Yakupoglu, MD, Professor of Urology

Ondokuz Mayis University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Samsun, Turkey ■ Fatih Yalcinkaya, MD, Professor of Urology Dışkapı Yıldırım Beyazıt Training and Research Hospital, Department of Urology, Ankara, Turkey

■ Fatih Yanaral, MD, Associate Professor of Urology Sisli Memorial Hospital, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

■ Mustafa Teoman Yanmaz, MD, Professor of Medical Oncology

Arel University Faculty of Medicine, Bahcelievler Memorial Hospital, Department of Medical Oncology, Istanbul, Turkey

Mustafa Gurkan Yenice, MD, Associate Professor of Urology

University of Health Sciences, Dr. Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, Department of Urology, Istanbul, Turkey

 Murvet Yilmaz, MD, Professor of Nephrology University of Health Sciences, Dr. Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, Department of Nephrology, Istanbul, Turkey

■ Guohua Zeng, MD, Professor of Urology The First Affiliated Hospital of Guangzhou Medical University, Department of Urology, Guangzhou, China



Aims and Scope

Grand Journal of Urology (Grand J Urol) is an open access, peer-reviewed journal publishing original scientific articles in the field of urology. It aims to issue scientific publications on Andrology (Male Sexual Disfunction, Infertility), Endourology, Female Urology, Functional Urology, General Urology, Genitourinary Radiology, History of Urology, Laparoscopic and Robotic Surgery, Minimally Invasive Urology, Neurourology, New Technology and Techniques, Pediatric Urology, Reconstructive Urology, Renal Transplantation, Urolithiasis, and Urological Oncology. It is published electronically three times a year (January, May, September), and the language of publication is English.

The target audience of the journal includes, urology specialists, residents in urology and other specialists who are interested in the field of urology. The journal aims to publish original scientific articles, clinical research, reviews, case reports, clinical images, editorial comments, and letters to the editor that are prepared in accordance with the ethical guidelines. Mini reviews, clinical updates, surgical techniques, and a guideline of guidelines that are in the scope of the journal are considered for publication and/or invited by the editor. All manuscripts must be submitted via the online submission system at <u>www.grandjournalofurology.com</u>. The journal guidelines, technical information, and the required forms are available on the journal's web page.

Only articles that have not been published elsewhere or are not reviewed for publication may be submitted. Grand J Urol does not accept multiple submission and duplicate submission even though the previous one was published in a different language. The journal's publication policy is based on independent and unbiased double-blinded peerreviewed principles. Following the online article submission, the journal's fast publishing process is an important policy, with our members of the Advisory Board and referees, peerreviewes are conducted to the highest standards and feedbacks are provided in the shortest time possible. The journal reserves the right to request any research material related to the article.

Mission

The mission of the Grand J Urol (GJU) is to distribute urological medical data to the World as well as create a supportive and vibrant scientific platform to connect and explore ideas by publishing articles related to all fields of urology. The GJU aims to address current urological issues at both national and international levels, start debates, and exert an influence on decision-makers all over the world by integrating science in everyday life.

The Grand Journal of Urology encourages and enables academicians, researchers, and specialists to publish their valuable research in urology branch.

Basic Publication Rules

The primary aim of the journal is to publish original articles with high scientific and ethical quality and serve as a good example of medical publications in the World. The Grand Journal of Urology's editorial policy (evaluation and publication processes) is shaped according to the guidelines of international organizations such as the International Council of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE), the World Association of Medical Editors (WAME), the Council of Science Editors (CSE), the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE), the US National Library of Medicine (NLM), the World Medical Association (WMA), the US Office of Research Integrity (ORI), the European Association of Science Editors (EASE), and the International Society of Managing and Technical Editors (ISMTE), and National Information Standards Organization (NISO). The journal also is in conformity with the Principles of Transparency and Best Practice in Scholarly Publishing (https://doaj.org/apply/transparency/).

Disclaimer

The statements or views in the articles published in the Grand Journal of Urology reflect the opinions of the author(s), not the opinions of the Journal, Editor-in-Chief, Editors, Editorial Board, Advisory Board, and/or publisher. The Editors, Editorial Board, Advisory Board, and publisher do not accept any responsibility or liability for the before-mentioned materials.

Publication Fee

The Grand Journal of Urology is a self-supporting journal and is not owned by any institution/organization. It does not get any financial support from any institution/ organization. The journal's functioning is carried out by the voluntary efforts of editors and referees. Potential advertisers should contact the Editorial Office. Advertisement images are published only upon the Editor-in-Chief's approval.

Submission, processing, and publication are free, and authors are not charged in any way. All published articles are available online in PDF and HTML format and can be downloaded free of charge from <u>www.</u> grandjournalofurology.com.

Copyright

The Grand Journal of Urology holds the international copyright of all the content published in the journal. Article authors are not paid for their articles in any way.

Abstracting Indexing

The contents of the "Grand Journal of Urology" indexed/abstracted is currently EBSCOhost, by J-Gate, EuroPub, Index Copernicus International Scilit, ScienceGate, ResearchGate, Crossref and Google Scholar.



Submission of an article indicates that the related work has not been published before, is not intended to be published elsewhere, and has been approved by all co-authors and responsible authorities at the institution where the study was carried. If any claim is made, the publisher will not be held legally responsible.

Manuscript Submission

Articles should be prepared following the guidelines of ICMJE- Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals (updated December 2019- http://www. icmje.org/icmje-recommendations). Authors should prepare papers by following CONSORT guidelines (http://www.consort-statement.org) for randomized research studies, STROBE guidelines (http://www. strobe-statement.org) for original observational research studies, STARD guidelines (http://www.stard-statement. org) for studies on diagnostic accuracy, PRISMA guidelines for systematic reviews and meta-analysis (http://www.prisma-statement.org), ARRIVE guides for experimental animal studies (http://www.nc3rs.org. uk/arrive) and TREND directives for non-randomized public behavior (http://www.cdc.gov/trendstatement).

Manuscript Preparation

Manuscripts submitted to the journal will initially go through a technical evaluation process by the Editorial Assistant to confirm that the article has been prepared and submitted by the journal's guidelines. Manuscripts that do not comply with the journal's guidelines will be returned to the sending author with technical correction requests. The corresponding author should review the following checklist before sending the article to our journal to avoid additional article evaluation problems.

1. Title Page

- Turkish (if the article is sent from Turkey) and English title of the article.

- Turkish (if the article is sent from Turkey) and English short title of the article, not exceeding 50 characters.

- Authors' names, institutions and ORCID IDs.

- Name, institution, e-mail, mobile phone and address of the corresponding author.

2. Main Text

- Manuscript must be written and sent on the Microsoft Word program.

- 12 font size, Times New Roman should be used in the text.

- Line breaks must be double spaced type.

- At least 2.5 cm margins must be left on all sides of each page.

- If there is, figure should be sent separately, it should not be in the main text.

- If there is, table should be in the main text.

- All references, tables and figures should be cited in the main text and numbered according to the order they appear in the main text.

- Abbreviations should be defined when first mentioned and then used consistently.

- Abbreviations should not be used in the title. Abbreviations can be used if they occur three or more times in the abstract, but must be re-introduced in the main text.

- Footnotes can be used to provide additional information, which may include a quotation of a reference in the reference list. It should not consist of just one reference and never include bibliographic details of a reference. It should also not contain any figures or tables.

- When referring to a drug, product, hardware, or software program, product information, including the name of the product, the manufacturer of the product, and the city of the company (including the state in the USA) and country, should be specified in parentheses.

- The limitations of the original articles should be declared in the Discussion section before the conclusion paragraph.

- There should be no information that could indicate a person or organization to ensure a blind assessment process.

- Tables and figures should be numbered with parentheses in the text.

The main text should contain the following sections in order:

Abstract

Original articles and review articles should be a maximum of 300 words and structured (Objective, Methods, Results, Conclusion). Case reports should have a maximum of 200 words and be unstructured. If the article is sent from Turkey, Turkish abstract should be sent (Amaç, Gereçler ve Yöntemler, Bulgular, Sonuç).

Keywords

4 to 6 keywords, can be used for indexing purposes should be provided. Keywords should be selected from Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) databases prepared by the National Library of Medicine (NLM).

What is Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)? <u>http://</u><u>www.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/MBrowser.html</u> is a wide range of medical-biological terms list used for the classification of articles in main international article search directories and databases, aimed to standardize medical-biological terminology and updated continuously, from which keywords of English articles can be chosen.



Manuscript

Original Article: It is the most crucial article type since it provides new data based on original research. The main text should be structured with the subtitles of Introduction, Materials and Methods, Results, Discussion, and Conclusion.

Statistical analysis is often required to support the results. It should be done according to international statistical reporting standards. Information on statistical analysis should be given under a separate subtitle under the Material and Methods section, and the statistical methods applied during the process should be specified.

Editorial Comment: It aims to present a brief critical comment on the research article published in the journal by experts or highly reputable reviewers. The authors

are selected and invited by the journal to provide such comments. It does not include abstract, keyword, table, figure, image, and other media elements.

Review Article: Reviews prepared by authors with excellent knowledge in a particular field and a high scientific background are welcomed. The journal can also invite these authors. Reviews should describe, discuss, and evaluate the current knowledge level of one subject in clinical practice and guide prospective studies. The main text should be structured with the subtitles of Introduction, Methods, Results, Discussion, and Conclusion.

Case Report: Rare cases, situations that pose difficulties in diagnosis and treatment, cases that offer new treatments or reveal information not included in the literature are considered. The main text should contain the subtitles Introduction, Case Presentation, and Discussion.

Clinical Image: Texts containing original, exciting, and high-quality clinical images for educational purposes and educational significance. Any information that could identify the patient or hospital, including the date, should be removed from the images. An abstract is not required for such articles.

Letters to the Editor: This type of article discusses essential parts, overlooked aspects, or missing parts of a previously published article. Readers can also submit their comments on published articles as "Letters to the Editor." It does not include abstract, keyword, table, figure, image, and other media elements. The text must be unstructured. The commented article should be appropriately quoted in this article.

Restrictions by Article Type

Article Type	Number of Authors	Font Word	Summary of Word	Source	Table
Research	12	4000	450	30	5
Review	5	5000	400	100	5
Case Report	8	1500	250	15	1
Clinical Image	5	500	N/A	10	0
Letters to the Editor	5	500	N/A	5	1

Acknowledgments (If Available)

All participants who do not meet the authorship criteria (ICMJE: authorship and contributorship) and conflict of interest and financial statement, must be submitted under this subheading.

Ethics Approval

Ethics committee approval is required in accordance with the National Ulakbim TR Index criteria for research/ original article studies using patients' data, even if they are retrospective, and this approval document should be attached when submitting the article (For more information: https://grandjournalofurology.com/static.php?id=32).

Author Contributions

The ICMJE recommends authorship to be based on the following four criteria:

-Substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work; or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work;

-Drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content;

-Final approval of the version to be published;

-Agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.



Conflict of Interest

Authors must indicate the existence of a conflict of interest. If there is no conflict of interest, it should be declared (For more information: https://grandjournalofurology.com/static.php?id=32).

Financial Disclosure

Institutions supporting the research should be defined. If there is no supporting institution, it should be declared (For more information: https://grandjournalofurology. com/static.php?id=32).

References

Manuscripts should be edited according to the Elsevier-Vancouver reference style.

-References should be numbered in square brackets in the text.

[1], [3-5], [6,9], [8-12,16].

- Articles with six and fewer authors

[1] Guner E, Seker KG, Arikan Y, Huseynov C, Sam E, Ozdal OL. Aktuelle Urol. 2020; 51: 285-289. https://doi.org/10.1055/a-1117-2776.

- Article with more than six authors

[2] Karabulut D, Karabulut U, Caglar FN, Ekşi M, Yenice MG, Guner E, et al. The association between CHA2DS2-VASc score and erectile dysfunction: a cross-sectional study. Int Braz J Urol. 2019; 45: 1204-1208. https://doi.org/10.1590 / S1677-5538. IBJU.2019.0058.

- Book

[3] Sweetman SC. Martindale the Complete Drug Reference. 34th ed. London: Pharmaceutical Press; 2005.

- Book chapter

[4] McKenna K. Ejaculation. In: Knobil E, Neil J, editors. Encyclopedia of Reproduction, New York: Academic Press; 1999, p. 1002-8.

Figure Legends

Descriptions of the figures related to the article should be written in order under this title.

Tables

-All tables should be numbered with Arabic numerals.

-Tables should always be defined in consecutive numerical order in the text.

- A table title explaining the components of the table should be provided for each one.

- Table footnotes should be indicated with lowercase letters (or asterisks for significance values and other statistical data) and placed under the table.

3. Cover Letter

- The cover letter should include the article's title, the article type, and the corresponding author's full name.

-The corresponding author should shortly summarize why his/her article is a worthy contribution to the scientific literature.

- The cover letter should contain a statement of whether there is a conflict of interest or not.

- The corresponding author should make a declaration that the article is not currently published elsewhere, accepted, or reviewed simultaneously.

- The place and date of presentation of manuscripts presented before as verbal or poster should be indicated on the cover letter.

4. Copyright Transfer Form

With this form, authors will be asked to transfer the article's copyright to the Publisher (For more information: https://grandjournalofurology.com/static. php?id=32).

5. Figure (if any)

- All figures should be numbered with Arabic numerals.

- Figures should always be defined in consecutive numerical order in the text.

- Figures, graphics, and photographs must be submitted as separate files (in TIFF or JPEG format) via the application system.

- Files should not be embedded in a Word document or the main document.

- Thick and thin arrows, arrowheads, stars, asterisks, and similar marks can be used in images to support shape legends.

- For histological slides, the staining method and magnification level should be defined.

- To ensure a blind evaluation process, all data that could symbolize a person or organization should be removed from the posted images.

- High-resolution image files are not preferred in the first submission as the file sizes can be large. After acceptance, the authors can be requested that all figures have a minimum resolution of 300 DPI.

- Figure legends should be listed at the end of the main document.

Peer Review Process

Peer review is an integral part of scientific publishing that confirms the validity of the manuscript. Independent researchers in the relevant research area assess submitted manuscripts for originality, validity, and significance to help editors determine whether a manuscript should be



published in their journal.

After receipt of the article through the electronic submission system, it will be considered by Assistant Editor. The texts will be checked in terms of accordance with Journal's Instructions for Authors format and plagiarism by using iThenticate similarity Check system for identifying. After the first check, the Assistant Editor will forward the relevant articles to the Editorin-Chief. The Editor-in-Chief will check the article in terms of Journal's scope, style and format, originality, and scientific quality. Each manuscript will be sent to at least two external, independent reviewers who are experts in their fields by the Editor-in-Chief/Associate Editors to guarantee a double-blind evaluation process. Evaluating the articles in a short period of 4-6 weeks by the referees and sending feedback to the authors is a policy considered by the journal for the fast publication process.

We are applying the same steps to the doubleblind peer-review process when we got the in-house submission.

Revision

When sending a revised version of an article, a response to reviewers letter should be sent to in which all the criticisms put forward by the referees are evaluated and commented individually. Simultaneously, the changes made should be specified in the text by marking them in red. An article must be re-submitted within 30 days of being sent to the author(s) for revision. If the author (s) think that additional time is required, they must demand this extension before the first 30 days expires.

After Acceptance

Corrected proof will be sent to the corresponding author via e-mail within a maximum of 2 weeks following acceptance. Editors can make corrections in the text content (word or grammatical errors, etc.) without changing the main text and the articles' corrected version is shared for the author's approval as the final corrected proof. The final correction is for checking the typographical or conversion errors and the text, tables, and figures' completeness and accuracy. Notable changes to the content (new results, revised values, title, or author add/remove) are not permitted without the editor's approval. Please do note that corrections are no longer possible after the first online publication. Any additional corrections after online publication require editor approval.

Withdrawal

The author (s) and the editorial board's duties and responsibilities through the withdrawal of a study or article under the Grand Journal of Urology's publication policies are given below.

The articles can be withdrawn after acceptance until corrected proof are sent by the author(s) to the editorial office. After this stage, the article's withdrawal will only be approved for the most compelling and inevitable reasons. Author (s) who prefer to request a withdrawal of their manuscript is obliged to fill in the Withdrawal Form, declaring the reasons and submit the scanned version signed with each author's original signature to the editorial board e-mail at info@grandjournalofurology. com. If the reason is acceptable, the author may retract the article without any penalty for withdrawal. Unless the withdrawal request of manuscripts whose copyrights have been transferred to the Grand Journal of Urology is approved, the author(s) cannot send their work to another journal for evaluation.



Contents

Editorial

Ekrem Guner

Original Article

A Novel Hybrid Urology Education Model for Medical Students: A Urology Clinic Experience
Tıp Öğrencileri İçin Orijinal Hibrid Üroloji Eğitimi: Bir Üroloji Kliniği Deneyimi
Erdem Akbay, Erim Erdem, Selahittin Çayan, Murat Bozlu, Ercüment Ulusoy, Hasan Erdal Doruk, Mesut Tek 1-
Does Migraine Prophylaxis Improve Overactive Bladder Symptoms? Prospective Observational Study
Migren Profilaksisi Aşırı Aktif Mesane Semptomlarını İyileştirir mi? Prospektif Gözlemsel Çalışma
Sinan Eliaçık, Aykut Başer, Funda Uysal Tan 6-1
Activity of Diosmin-Hesperidin in Kidney Ischemia-reperfusion Injury in Rats: Experimental Study
Ratlarda Böbrek İskemi-Reperfüzyon Hasarında Diosmin-Hesperidin'in Etkinliği: Deneysel Çalışma
Kenan Yalçın, Erim Ersoy 12-1
Böbrek ve Üreter Taşlarının Kontrastsız Bilgisayarlı Tomografi Üzerinde Hesaplanan Hounsfield Ünitesinin Holmium Yag Laser ile Yapılan Üreterorenoskopi ve Retrograd İntrarenal Cerrahi Tedavisinde Fragmantasyon Üzerindeki Etkisi Muhittin Atar, Abdullah Turan, Ali Haydar Yılmaz, Fatih Kürsat Yılmazel, İbrahim Karabulut, Sercan Sarı, Abdullah Gürel 19-24 Case Report
Partial Nephrectomy in Wilms Tumor: A Rarely Implemented Surgical Method
Wilms Tümöründe Parsiyel Nefrektomi: Çok Nadir Uygulanan Bir Cerrahi Yöntem
Kenan Yalçın 25-2'
Prostate Cancer with Osteolytic Sternal Metastasis: A Rare Clinical Presentation
Osteolitik Sternal Metastazlı Prostat Kanseri: Nadir Bir Klinik Sunum
Somanatha Sharma, Kiritha Ranjani Ac, Sethu Ram Sharma28-3
A Rare Clinical Condition That Can Mimic Bladder Malignancy: Primary Bladder Amyloidosis
Mesane Malignitesini Taklit Edebilen Nadir Bir Klinik Durum: Primer Mesane Amiloidozu
Saurabh Kumar Negi, Sandip Desai, Gaurav Faujdar, Ram Dayal Sahu, Somendra Bansal, Shivam Priyadarshi 32-34

XII



Editorial

Dear colleagues,

I am honored to share with you the third issue of 2023 (volume 3, issue 3) of the Grand Journal of Urology (Grand J Urol) with the contributions of many respected researchers and authors.

Grand Journal of Urology (GJU) aims to carry written and visual scientific urology studies to academic platforms and to make significant contributions to the science of urology.

Our journal has been abstracted/indexed in Tubitak Ulakbim TR Index, DOAJ, EBSCOhost, J-Gate, Index Copernicus International, EuroPub, SciLit, ResearchGate, ScienceGate and Google Scholar international databases. As of these achievements, the Grand Journal of Urology (GJU) has taken its place among the journals indexed by national and international databases.

In this issue of our journal, there are many valuable articles under the subheadings of General Urology, Neurourology, Urolithiasis and Urological Oncology. I hope that these carefully prepared articles will make important contributions to valuable readers, researchers and the urology literature.

On this occasion, I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to our authors who have contributed to our journal with their articles, to our reviewers who have meticulously evaluate the articles.

Respectfully yours January 2024 Assoc. Prof. Ekrem GUNER, MD Editor-in-Chief



A Novel Hybrid Urology Education Model for Medical Students: A Urology Clinic Experience

Tıp Öğrencileri İçin Orijinal Hibrid Üroloji Eğitimi: Bir Üroloji Kliniği Deneyimi

Erdem Akbay 🕏, Erim Erdem 🕏, Selahittin Çayan 🔍 Murat Bozlu 🔍 Ercüment Ulusoy 🕲, Hasan Erdal Doruk 🕲 Mesut Tek 🕲

Department of Urology, Mersin University Faculty of Medicine, Mersin, Türkiye

Cite as: Akbay E, Erdem E, Çayan S, Bozlu M, Ulusoy E, Doruk HE, Tek M. A novel hybrid urology education model for medical students: A urology clinic experience. Grand J Urol 2024;4(1):1-5

Submission date: 03 April 2023 Acceptance date: 19 September 2023 Online first: 29 September 2023 Publication date: 19 January 2024

Corresponding Author: Erdem Akbay / Mersin University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Mersin, Türkiye / erakbay@mersin.edu.tr ORCID ID: 0000-0001-7669-414X

Abstract

Objective: To compare traditional and hybrid model of education in urology among 4th-year medical students in terms of training success

Materials and Methods: In our urology clinic, the training success scores of seven randomly selected training groups among 4th-year medical students, who were trained with the traditional model between 1998-2018, and the 4th year medical students who were trained with the hybrid model between 2018-2020 and constituted five randomly selected training groups were compared. Of the total 582 medical students, included in the study, 278 (47.8%) were enrolled in the traditional model group, and 304 (52.2%) in the hybrid model group. The training was evaluated with hands-on applications and theoretical and oral exams. Differences between both male and female students and differences that may vary depending on different faculty members teaching the students were evaluated using multivariate logistic regression analysis.

Results: The training success rates were significantly higher in the hybrid model group (300/304; 98.7%) than in the traditional model group (261/278; 93.9%) [p:0.002]. Multivariate logistic regression analysis found that factors such as the number of training groups, gender of medical students, and evaluations of different faculty members did not affect the educational success rate.

Conclusion: The hybrid model could be accepted as a mobile education model in a sense. The exam results of medical students educated with the hybrid model were better than those receiving training with the traditional model which can be explained by the increased accessibility of medical students to education in the hybrid model without constraints of time and place. Additionally, it is thought that conducting the oral exam as a "structured oral exam" also contributed to these results.

Keywords: Traditional urology education model, hybrid urology education model, structured oral exam, mobil devices, youtube channel

Özet

Amaç: Dördüncü sınıf tıp öğrencilerinde üroloji stajı eğitimlerinde geleneksel ve hibrit eğitim modelinin eğitim başarısı açısından karşılaştırılması.

Gereçler ve Yöntemler: Üroloji kliniğimizde 1998-2018 yılları arasında geleneksel modelle eğitim gören 4.sinif tip ögrencileri arasında rastgele seçilmiş yedi eğitim grubu ile 2018-2020 yılları arasında hibrit modelle eğitim almış ve rastgele seçilmiş beş eğitim grubunu oluşturan 4. sınıf tıp öğrencilerinin eğitim başarı puanları karşılaştırıldı. Araştırmaya dahil edilen toplam 582 tıp öğrencisinin 278'i (%47,8) geleneksel model grubuna, 304'ü (%52,2) hibrit model grubuna kayıtlıydı. Eğitim, klinik uygulamalar, teorik ve sözlü sınavlarla değerlendirildi. Hem erkek hem de kız öğrenciler arasındaki farklar ve öğrencilere ders veren farklı öğretim elemanlarına bağlı değişebilecek farklılıklar çok değişkenli lojistik regresyon analizi kullanılarak değerlendirildi.

Bulgular: Eğitim başarı oranları hibrit model grubunda (300/304; %98,7), geleneksel model grubuna (261/278; %93,9) göre önemli ölçüde daha yüksekti [p:0,002]. Çok değişkenli lojistik regresyon analizinde eğitim gruplarının sayısı, tıp öğrencilerinin cinsiyeti ve farklı öğretim üyelerinin değerlendirmeleri gibi faktörlerin eğitim başarı oranını etkilemediği saptandı.

Sonuç: Hibrid eğitim modeli bir anlamda mobil eğitim modeli olarak kabul edilebilir. Hibrit modelle eğitim gören tıp öğrencilerinin sınav sonuçlarının geleneksel modelle eğitim alan öğrencilere göre daha iyi olması, tıp öğrencilerinin hibrit modelde zaman ve mekân kısıtlaması olmaksızın eğitime erişimlerinin artmasıyla açıklanabilir. İlave olarak sözlü sınavın "yapılandırılmış sözlü sınav" olarak yapılmasının da bu sonuçlara katkısı olduğu düşünülmektedir.

Anahtar kelimeler: Geleneksel üroloji eğitim modeli, hibrid üroloji eğitim modeli, yapılandırılmış sözlü sınav, mobil cihazlar, youtube kanalı

ORCID ID:	E. Erdem	0000-0003-1754-4365	M. Bozlu	0000-0002-8624-0149	H.E. Doruk	0000-0001-5671-9602
	S. Çayan	0000-0003-4784-2208	E. Ulusoy	0000-0002-9385-128X	M. Tek	0000-0002-5769-0730

© Copyright 2024 by GJU. Sum A Novel Hybrid Urology Education Model for Medical Students: A Urology Clinic Experience by Erdem Akbay is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License which permits unrestricted non-commercial re-use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Introduction

Advances in telecommunication technology such as mobile internet devices have changed medical educational practices in academic centers. Today, the biggest benefit of the use of mobile phones and laptops for education is that they provide a great deal of freedom regarding the time and place at which information is obtained [1]. In recent years, the transfer of educational programs to virtual platforms has begun to take its place in medical education. Applications used in other fields of education have become important tools when used for medical education [2]. The development of instant messaging applications, especially on mobile phones, has gained popularity among healthcare professionals and medical students.

Traditional medicine education continues to be the cornerstone of many educational institutions in the world. In addition to traditional education, the use of mobile devices will be essential for the education and exams of medical students, interns, and medical residents [3-5]. There is limited information in the literature about the place of hybrid models in urology. In this study, we have compared training success rates between traditional and hybrid model of education among 4th-year medical students rotating in urology clinics of a university hospital.

Materials and Methods

At the beginning of training, all 4th-year medical students downloaded urology training applications and, subscribed to the urology training videos channel from YouTube, administered by our clinics, and were informed with detail concerning hybrid structured-oral exams in the hybrid model group.

The total duration of teaching in urology for 4th-year medical students was 3 weeks. In either group, the theoretical lessons were presented by seven academic members during training period. Practical activity report cards were given to the students at the start of training which they filled out with practical activities they carried out such as patient examinations, urethral catheterization, minor surgical intervention, etc. The two groups had the same practical and theoretical objectives. The students that had $\geq 60/100$ grades on their report cards were considered successful at the practical exam at the end of training and gained the right to sit for the theoretical exam. Unsuccessful students were excluded from the training program.

In either group, the theoretical exam consisted of two parts; a test exam and an oral exam (traditional or hybrid). The test exam was organized as a multiple-choice test. The overall theoretical grade was calculated by the arithmetic mean of the test and oral exam grades.

In the hybrid group, the hybrid oral exam was applied with the help of software developed by our clinic using Microsoft Access. The questions, asked in an oral exam by an academic member, were randomly chosen among question groups at Urology Training Applications that also had the answers to them.

In either group, theoretical oral exams were done by seven academic members for seven student groups. The students were examined again by a different academic member in case they failed the oral exam, and then the theoretical oral exam grades were estimated, and expressed as the arithmetic mean of the final grades assigned by both academic members. The medical students who had both practical and theoretical exam grades of ≥ 60 were evaluated as successful. The final grade was estimated, and expressed as the arithmetic mean of the practical and theoretical exam grades. The students who scored less than 60 in the practical exam weren't allowed to enter the theoretical exam and had to repeat the internship. However, students who scored less than 60 on the theoretical exam were given a chance to resit the exam. If they failed to surpass 60 points after the resit exam, they had to repeat the internship as well. The study protocol was reviewed and approved by the Mersin University Clinical Research Ethics Committee (04.26.2023/294).

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics for continuous variables were expressed and also tabulated as mean \pm standard deviation, and for categorical variables as frequencies, and percentages (%). T-test were used to compare continuous variables between the two groups. One-way ANOVA and post- hoc tests were used to compare continuous variables among the groups, and chi-square test was used for qualitative variables in patient groups. In addition, multivariate logistic regression analysis was done to present factors predicting training success. Statistical analysis was performed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences software (version 21.0, IBM SPSS), and a p-value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Of the total 582 medical students (352 males and 230 females), included in the study, 278 (47.8%) were in the traditional model group, and 304 (52.2%) were in the hybrid model group. The mean grades for all items of the exam were higher in the hybrid model group (**Table 1**). All students were divided into four groups by gender and education model. The hybrid model group that consisted of female students had the highest mean grades in all items of the exam (**Table 2**). All results of these groups are shown clearly in **Figure 1**.

Multivariate logistic regression analysis was done to present factors predicting training success among the students. The number of training groups, gender of the medical students and evaluation by a different academic member have predicted the training success in both groups (p>0.05 and p>0.05, respectively). Based on results of the one-way ANOVA test, the mean training grades evaluated by different academic members were not significantly different in the hybrid model (p:0.072), but they differred significantly in the traditional model (p:0.004).



Figure 1. Mean grades by education model and gender

Item	Group*	Mean	Std. deviation	Std. error mean	P**
Practical grade	1 2	82.45 86.65	7.52 6.64	0.45 0.38	0.000
Theoretical (test exam grade)	1 2	76.20 81.40	9.71 9.50	0.51 0.54	0.000
Theoretical (oral exam grade)	1 2	74.04 83.15	18.82 17.52	1.13 1.00	0.000
Overall theoretical grade	1 2	75.11 82.28	11.89 10.75	0.71 0.62	0.000
Final grade	1 2	75.06 83.68	20.06 11.12	1.20 0.64	0.000

Table 1. Comparisons of the mean grades for all items of exam in education model groups

* Group 1: Traditional model; Group 2: Hybrid model; ** Student's t test

Table 2. Com	parisons of t	he mean grad	es for all i	tems of exam	in education&	gender grou	lps
		0				0 0	

Item	Group*	Mean	Std. deviation	Std. error mean	p (Anova)	Post Hoc Tests (Tamphane)
Practical grade	1 2 3 4	81.61 84.08 85.62 87.95	7.87 6.52 6.89 6.09	0.58 0.67 0.52 0.52	0.000	1 - 2 : p = 0.033 1 - 3 : p = 0.000 1 - 4 : p = 0.000 2 - 3 : p = 0.363 2 - 4 : p = 0.000 3 - 4 : p = 0.012
Theoretical (test exam grade)	1 2 3 4	75.87 76.83 80.54 82.49	10.85 7.02 10.37 8.19	0.80 0.72 0.79 0.70	0.000	1 - 2 : p = 0.939 1 - 3 : p = 0.000 1 - 4 : p = 0.000 2 - 3 : p = 0.004 2 - 4 : p = 0.000 3 - 4 : p = 0.340
Theoretical (oral exam grade)	1 2 3 4	73.19 75.66 81.04 85.82	19.67 17.07 19.07 14.98	1.45 1.75 1.46 1.29	0.000	1 - 2 : p = 0.860 1 - 3 : p = 0.001 1 - 4 : p = 0.000 2 - 3 : p = 0.111 2 - 4 : p = 0.000 3 - 4 : p = 0.087
Overall theoretical grade	1 2 3 4	74.53 76.24 80.71 84.16	12.85 9.74 11.95 8.69	0.94 0.99 0.91 0.75	0.000	1 - 2 : p = 0.766 1 - 3 : p = 0.000 1 - 4 : p = 0.000 2 - 3 : p = 0.006 2 - 4 : p = 0.000 3 - 4 : p = 0.029
Final grade	1 2 3 4	74.20 76.11 81.17 86.05	20.59 18.99 13.93 4.99	1.52 1.95 1.07 0.43	0.000	1 - 2 : p = 0.892 1 - 3 : p = 0.000 1 - 4 : p = 0.000 2 - 3 : p = 0.132 2 - 4 : p = 0.000 3 - 4 : p = 0.002

* Group 1: Traditional model (male); Group 2: Traditional model (female); Group 3: Hybrid model (male); Group 4: Hybrid model (female)

Discussion

In this study, in addition to the traditional model, we have created a hybrid model with applications that were accessed through mobile devices for the 4th-year medical students rotating in urology. In addition, we have supported this hybrid model by changing traditional oral exams to structured oral exams with the use of a Microsoft Access application.

Although traditional medical education is the cornerstone, the development of new methods such as mobile messaging attracts the attention of educators [6]. Especially during the COVID-19 pandemic, medical education had to be carried out virtually in many countries of the world. Indeed, Pandya et al. have shown that the use of these easily accessible applications can improve nephrology education [1]. Various studies have examined the use of instant messaging applications in medical education and have shown that students' learning motivation and satisfaction increase depending on these applications [7,8]. In studies evaluating online and offline education in dermatology, it has been suggested that online teaching presents some difficulties [9,10]. Recently, Shahar et al. evaluated the role of secure instant messaging applications, and Siilo which is also a secure instant messaging application in medical education [11]. They demonstrated that the "Siilo" appeared to be a promising tool for facilitating case-based learning in a medical setting and it was found to be user-friendly and secure, with a high level of satisfaction reported by participants.

To the best of our knowledge, these two educational models for medical students rotating in urology have not been compared so far. In our study, the mean success grades for all items of the exam were significantly higher in the hybrid education model compared to the traditional education (Table 1). A remarkable amount of increase was observed in success rates of both male and female students in the hybrid group, compared to the traditional model. Female medical students in both groups were more successful than their male counterparts (Table 2, Figure 1). In multivariate logistic regression analysis, the sample size of the training group, students' gender, and evaluation by different academic members did not predict the training success in either group. However, based on the one-way ANOVA test results, the mean training grades given by academic members were not significantly different in the hybrid model (p:0.072) but differed significantly in the traditional model (p:0.004). We have attributed this issue to the standardization of questions and answers in the structured oral exams.

This study has several limitations. First of all, it was done only in our own center. Second, different applications were not compared in our study. On the other hand, the strength of our study is that it will shed light on future multicenter studies performed with a larger sample size in the field of urology education.

Conclusion

We have observed that medical students who received training with our hybrid model were greatly interested in urology residency programs. We have arrived at the conclusion that a hybrid model, coupled with structured oral exams, can create an environment where medical students will achieve the maximum possible success.

Ethics Committee Approval: The study protocol was reviewed and approved by the Mersin University Clinical Research Ethics Committee (ethics committee approval date and number: 26.04.2023/294).

Informed Consent: An informed consent was obtained from all the patients.

Publication: The results of the study were not published in full or in part in form of abstracts.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Any contribution was not made by any individual not listed as an author. Concept – E.A., E.E.; Design – E.A., E.E.; Supervision – S.C., M.B., E.U.; Resources – H.E.D., M.T.; Materials – H.E.D., M.T.; Data Collection and/or Processing – E.U., H.E.D., M.T.; Analysis and/or Interpretation – E.U., H.E.D., M.T.; Literature Search – H.E.D., M.T.; Writing Manuscript – E.A., E.E.; Critical Review – E.A., E.E., S.C. Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that they have no

conflicts of interest. **Financial Disclosure:** The authors state that they have not

Financial Disclosure: The authors state that they have not received any funding.

Supplementary Materials

- 1. Urology Internship- Mobile Application (Google Play) https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=com.akbay. erdem.urologytraining&gl=TR
- Mobile Urology Internship & Internship Exam Guide (App Store) http://www.mersinuroloji.com/?smd_process_ download=1&download_id=542
- 3. Urology False-True Hybrid Quiz (Google Play) https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=com.akbay. erdem.urologyhibridquiz
- 4. Urology Multiple Choice Quiz (Google Play) https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=com.akbay. erdem.multiplechoice
- 5. Mersin Urology Structured Oral Exam http://mersinuroloji.com
- Mersin University Urology Training Videos https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCWfDer4I9WG_ Gr4Fu3Gnwxw

References

- Pandya A, Elrggal ME, Jhaveri KD. Use of Semiprivate Smartphone Communication Applications in Nephrology Education. Semin Nephrol. 2020;40(3):303-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semnephrol.2020.04.010
- Thomas K. Wanted: a WhatsApp alternative for clinicians. BMJ. 2018;360:k622. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29440047
- [3] Shaw CM, Tan SA. Integration of mobile technology in educational materials improves participation: creation of a novel smartphone application for resident education. J Surg Educ. 2015;72(4):670-3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsurg.2015.01.015
- [4] Pyörälä E, Mäenpää S, Heinonen L, Folger D, Masalin T, Hervonen H. The art of grade taking with mobile devices in medical education. BMC Med Educ. 2019;19(1):96. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-019-1529-7
- [5] Lau C, Kolli V. App Use in Psychiatric Education: A Medical Student Survey. Acad Psychiatry. 2017;41(1):68-70. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40596-016-0630-z
- [6] Walsh K. Mobile Learning in Medical Education: Review. Ethiop J Health Sci. 2015;25(4):363-6. https://doi.org/10.4314/ejhs.v25i4.10

- Zulfikar I, Zaheer F, Baloch Q, Ahmed F. The new face of learning: social media innovating medical education. Int J Educ Psych Res. 2018;4(1):1-5. https://doi.org/10.4103/jepr.jepr_73_16
- [8] Dyavarishetty PV, Patil DC. An interventional study to assess the effectiveness of 'WhatsApp' as a teaching learning tool in community medicine. Int J Community Med Public Health. 2017;4(7):2564-9. https://doi.org/10.18203/2394-6040.ijcmph20172860
- [9] Bari A. Dermatology residency training in COVID-19 pandemic: transition from traditional to online teaching. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak. 2020;30(6):63-6. https://doi.org/10.29271/jcpsp.2020.Supp1.S63
- [10] Wang B, Zhang M, Zhao Z, Huang Y, Li J, Chen X, et al. Multidimensional evaluation of offline and online education in dermatology teaching during the COVID-19 pandemic in a chinese teaching hospital: a cross-sectional study. BMC Med Educ. 2023;23(1):195. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-023-04160-0
- [11] Shahar T, Tadmor O, Dior U, Porat S, Safrai M, Ezra Y, et al. The role of secure instant messaging applications in medical education: Evaluating student satisfaction in a case-based learning program using Siilo. Front Med (Lausanne). 2023;10:1139859. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2023.1139859



Does Migraine Prophylaxis Improve Overactive Bladder Symptoms? Prospective Observational Study

Migren Profilaksisi Aşırı Aktif Mesane Semptomlarını İyileştirir mi? Prospektif Gözlemsel Çalışma

Sinan Eliaçık¹ **©**, Aykut Başer² **©**, Funda Uysal Tan¹ **©**

¹Department of Neurology, Hitit University School of Medicine, Corum, Türkiye ²Department of Urology, Bandırma Onyedi Eylul University School of Medicine, Balikesir, Türkiye

Cite as: Eliaçık S, Başer A, Uysal Tan F. Does migraine prophylaxis improve overactive bladder symptoms? Prospective observational study. Grand J Urol 2024;4(1):6-11

Submission date: 19 May 2023 Acceptance date: 20 September 2023 Online first: 02 October 2023 Publication date: 19 January 2024

Corresponding Author: Sinan Eliaçık / Hitit University School of Medicine, Department of Neurology, Corum, Türkiye / sinaneliacik@gmail.com ORCID ID: 0000-0002-9415-0039

Abstract

Objective: In this study, we aimed to investigate whether there would be any improvement in symptoms of overactive bladder (OAB) after migraine prophylaxis in patients with chronic migraine (CM) and OAB.

Materials and Methods: The study group consisted of women aged 19 to 64 years diagnosed as CM according to current International Headache Society criteria, and OAB using the OAB-V8 (Overactive Bladder Inquiry Form - V8) and ICIQ-SF (International Consultation on Incontinence Questionnaire Short Form) forms as well as clinical evaluation in the neurology and urology clinics. 63 patients informed and agreed to enter the study were started migraine prophylaxis and evaluated after 6 months for comparison of pre-treatment and post-treatment VPS (visual pain scale), OAB-V8, and the ICIQ-SF scores. Flunarizine, topiramate, venlafaxine and propranolol were used in the treatment of patients.

Results: The mean age of 63 women included in the study was 39.15 ± 8.74 (19-64) years. The mean Body Mass Index (BMI) of the patients was determined as 25.41 ± 3.64 (16.4-35.6) kg/m². After migraine prophylaxis, VPS, OAB-V8 and ICIQ-SF scores decreased significantly in the entire patient group (p<0.05). Statistically significant changes were found in the values of VPS, OAB-V8 and ICIQ-SF in the topiramate or propranolol treated groups. In the flunarizine group, there was a significant statistical response in the VPS and OAB-V8 scores, while there were no significant changes in the ICIQ-SF and OAB-V8 scores in the venlafaxine-treated group.

Conclusion: The beneficial effect of migraine prophylaxis on OAB symptoms support somewhat shared etiopathogenesis for both disorders. However, the series is small and considering the involvement of multifactorial factors and complex physiopathology for both disorders further studies are necessary to reveal the underlying mechanisms and clinical impacts.

Keywords: Migraine, overactive bladder, incontinence, neurourology, functional urology

Özet

Amaç: Bu çalışmada kronik migren ve komorbid olarak aşırı aktif mesane semptomları olan hastalarda migren profilaksisi sonrası aşırı aktif mesane semptomlarında düzelme olup olmayacağını araştırmayı amaçladık.

Gereçler ve Yöntemler: Çalışma grubu, mevcut Uluslararası Baş Ağrısı Derneği kriterlerine göre kronik migren tanısı alan 19-64 yaş arası kadınlardan oluşmaktaydı. Kronik migrene komorbid olarak aşırı aktif mesanesi olan vakalar çalışmaya dahil edilme kriterlerine göre seçildi. OAB-V8 (Aşırı Aktif Mesane Sorgulama Formu - V8) ve ICIQ-SF (Uluslararası İnkontinans Danışma Anketi Kısa Formu), VAS (vizüel ağrı skala) formları uzman nörolog ve ürolog tarafından değerlendirildi. Bilgilendirilen ve çalışmaya katılmayı kabul eden 63 hastaya migren profilaksisi başlandı. Tedavi başlangıcında ve tedavi sonrası altıncı ayda anketler tekrar uygulandı. Hastaların tedavisinde flunarizin, topiramat, venlafaksin ve propranolol kullanıldı.

Bulgular: Çalışmaya dahil edilen 63 kadının yaş ortalaması 39.15 ± 8.74 (19-64) yıldı. Hastaların ortalama vücut kitle indeksi 25.41 ± 3.64 (16.4-35.6) kg/m² olarak belirlendi. Migren profilaksisinden sonra; VAS, OAB ve ICIQ skorları anlamlı olarak azaldı (p <0.005). Topiramat veya propranolol ile tedavi edilen gruplarda VAS, OAB-V8 ve ICIQ-SF değerlerinde istatistiksel olarak anlamlı değişiklikler bulundu. Flunarizin grubunda VPS ve OAB-V8 skorlarında anlamlı istatistiksel değişiklikler saptanırken, venlafaksin ile tedavi edilen grupta ICIQ-SF ve OAB-V8 skorlarında anlamlı bir değişiklik tespit edilmedi.

Sonuç: Migren profilaksisinin aşırı aktif mesane semptomları üzerindeki yararlı etkisi, her iki hastalık içinde ortak olabilecek etiyopatogenezi desteklemektedir. Ancak, çalışma serimiz küçüktür ve her iki hastalık için de çok faktörlü ve karmaşık fizyopatolojinin katılımı göz önüne alındığında, altta yatan mekanizmaları ve klinik etkileri ortaya çıkarmak için daha geniş kapsamlı çalışmalar gereklidir.

Anahtar kelimeler: migren, aşırı aktif mesane, inkontinans, nöroüroloji, fonksiyonel üroloji

ORCID ID: A. Başer 0000-0003-0457-512X F. Uysal Tan 0000-0002-3518-1935

© Copyright 2024 by GJU. @ Does migraine prophylaxis improve overactive bladder symptoms? Prospective observational study by Sinan Eliaçık is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License which permits unrestricted non-commercial re-use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Introduction

Chronic migraine (CM) is a disease that negatively affects the quality of life of individuals, and it is more common in women, it affects approximately 12% of the general population. Similarly, overactive bladder (OAB), the most common subtype of urinary incontinence, has also an adverse effect on life quality. Unfortunately, most women hardly reveal their complaints, living with the course despite worsening of OAB symptoms. Altman et. al. have documented the association between OAB and various somatic disorders [1]. The comorbidity between CM and OAB was also supported by other studies, however, both disorders have complex multifactorial etiopathogenesis affected by both environmental and genetic factors [2]. Thus, the physiopathological basis of the possible association between CM and OAB remains obscure. Based on the study in which we found an association between CM and OAB; suspecting a common etiopathogenesis behind the comorbidity, we aimed to determine whether migraine prophylaxis would affect the symptom severity of OAB [3]. Thus, we evaluated the changes in OAB symptoms in patients given migraine prophylaxis treatment.

Materials and Methods

The study was a cross-sectional prospective study approved by the Hitit University School of Medicine Ethics Committee (349/06.01.2021) and conducted by STROBE guidelines for reporting observational studies (www.strobestatement.org) and the Declaration of Helsinki. All participants gave informed consent for this study.

This study group consisted of women aged 19 to 64 years diagnosed as CM according to the International Headache Society (IHS) criteria [4]. Patients were evaluated by urology and neurology physicians according to exclusion and inclusion criteria and participated in the study. The exclusion criteria were determined as follows: Urinary tract infection, neurogenic bladder and other etiology that can cause a neurogenic bladder (such as spinal cord injury, peripheral nerve disease), history / diagnosis of interstitial cystitis, lower urinary tract symptoms due to bladder stone and pelvic mass, symptomatic or severe pelvic organ prolapse, vaginal cancers, concomitant diseases that cause fluid shifts, such as congestive heart failure, cirrhosis, and pulmonary edema, use of diuretics and similar medicines, excessive fluid consumption (assessed by at least 3 days of voiding diary).

Questionnaires and Definitions

The individuals participating in the study were evaluated by the neurology and urology physician with a study questionnaire consisting of four parts; (I) Patient demographics; the gender, age, body mass index (BMI) of the participants, (II) Migraine ID test for the diagnosis of CM, which was any headache occurring ≥ 15 days per month for at least 3 months with migraine features on ≥ 8 days every month, headache without excessive drug use and non-attributable to another reason, and the visual pain scale (VPS) scored between 0 and 10 points for qualitative evaluation of migraine pain, (III) OAB-V8 (Overactive Bladder Inquiry Form - V8) [5], (IV) ICIQ-SF (International Consultation on Incontinence Questionnaire Short Form [6].

Accordingly, patients diagnosed as having both CM and OAB were identified and evaluated as reported before [3]. In this study, we aimed to investigate whether there would be any improvement in symptoms of OAB after migraine prophylaxis in patients with CM and OAB, as a follow-up. Patients informed and agreed to enter the study who were started migraine prophylaxis were evaluated after 6 months using the VPS, OAB-V8, and ICIQ-SF forms. Pre-treatment (before prophylaxis) and post-treatment (after prophylaxis) symptoms were compared. There was a total of 63 women patients included in the study. Migraine prophylaxis was made using topiramate (22 patients), venlafaxine (14 patients), propranolol (12 patients), and flunarizine (15 patients), according to doctor and patient preference and related health issues, however, drugs that would affect bladder dynamics and used in the treatment OAB were avoided. Multiple agents were used and randomly selected (if no comorbid condition necessitating the need for a particular preference was present such as depression or epilepsy) to prevent selection bias and specific drug effects. None of the patients included in the study was given any medication for the treatment of OAB as this could certainly affect the results.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS (Version 22.0, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA Hitit University Licensed) package program. The mean age of 63 women included in the study was 39.25 ± 9.21 (19-64) years. The mean BMI of the patients was determined as 25.29 ± 3.61 (16.4-33.3) kg/m². Our analyses were performed with the SPSS 22.0 program and were studied at a 95% confidence level. In our analysis, parametric dependent groups t-test and ANOVA test were used. The Analysis of the pre-and post-treatment in the group separation and the whole group was analyzed by the dependent group's t-test.

Results

In the topiramate group; the VPS score change is significant (p<0.05). While the mean before the treatment was 6.77, it decreased to 3.91 with a decrease of 2.86 points after treatment. OAB score change is significant (p<0.05). While the average was 15.23 before treatment, it decreased to 10.55 with a decrease of 4.68 points after treatment. ICIQ-SF score change is significant

(p<0.05). While the average was 5.95 before treatment, it decreased to 4.45 with a decrease of 1.50 points after treatment.

In the venlafaxine group; the change in VPS score is significant (p<0.05). While the average was 6.64 before

treatment, it decreased to 4.50 with a decrease of 2.14 points after treatment. The change in OAB-V8 and ICIQ-SF scores is not significant (p>0.05).

In the propranolol group; the change in VPS score is significant (p<0.05). While the average was 7.00 before treatment, it decreased to 3.25 with a decrease of 3.75 points after treatment. OAB-V8 score change is significant (p<0.05). While the average was 15.58 before treatment, it decreased to 9.42 with a decrease of 6.17 points after treatment. ICIQ-SF score change is significant (p<0.05). While the average was 7.33 before the treatment, it decreased to 4.42 with a decrease of 2.92 points after treatment.

Group		Mean	SD	Change	t	р
	Pre. T. VPS.	6,77	0,97	2.86	5.016	000*
	Post. T. VPS.	3,91	2,16	2,00	5,010	,000
Toniramata	Pre. T. OABS	15,23	7,46	1 69	4 002	001*
Tophamate	Post. T. OABS	10,55	5,27	4,08	4,092	,001"
	Pre. T. ICIQS	5,95	3,68	1.50	2.025	000*
	Post. T. ICIQS	4,45	3,05	1,50	2,923	,000**
	Pre. T. VPS	6,64	1,08	2.14	2 044	002*
	Post. T. VPS	4,50	2,10	2,14	5,944	,002*
Vanlafarina	Pre. T. OABS	13,86	6,68	2 50	2 1 4 7	051
venialaxine	Post. T. OABS	10,36	5,14	5,50	2,147	,051
	Pre. T. ICIQS	6,00	3,14	1.26	2,032	062
	Post. T. ICIQS	4,64	2,87	1,50		,005
	Pre. T. VPS	7,00	1,41	2 75	7 150	000*
	Post. T. VPS	3,25	1,82	5,75	/,130	,000*
Duonnon ol ol	Pre. T. OABS	15,58	5,21	6.17	5,679	000*
Propranoioi	Post. T. OABS	9,42	5,33	0,17		,000*
	Pre. T. ICIQS	7,33	2,19	2.02	4,037	002*
	Post. T. ICIQS	4,42	1,83	2,92		,002
	Pre. T. VPS	6,27	1,10	1.52	2 617	002*
	Post. T. VPS	4,73	1,44	1,55	5,017	,005
Elunorizino	Pre. T. OABS	14,73	7,87	2 40	2 241	042*
Flunarizine	Post. T. OABS	11,33	6,01	5,40	2,241	,042**
	Pre. T. ICIQS	5,93	4,38	1 47	1 708	004
	Post. T. ICIQS	4,47	4,03	1,47	1,798	,094
	Pre. T. VPS	6,67	1,12	2.56	8 001	000*
	Post. T. VPS	4,11	1,96	2,30	8,991	,000**
Total	Pre. T. OABS	14,87	6,88	4.40	6 480	000*
10101	Post. T. OABS	10,48	5,34	4,40	0,409	,000"
	Pre. T. ICIQS	6,22	3,48	1 73	5 200	000*
	Post. T. ICIQS	4,49	3,03	1,/3	5,200	,000**

Table 1. Investigation of pre-and post-treatment variation in the whole group and between drug groups

Pre-T VPS: Pre-treatment visual pain scale; Post-T VAS: Post-treatment visual analog scale; Pre-T OABS: Pre-treatment Overactive Bladder Inquiry Form Score; Post-T OABS: Post-treatment Overactive Bladder Inquiry Form Score; Pre-T ICIQS: Pre-treatment International Consultation on Incontinence Questionnaire Score; Post-T ICIQS: Post-treatment International Consultation on Incontinence Questionnaire Score

In the flunarizine group; the change in VPS score is significant (p<0.05). While the average was 6.27 before treatment, it decreased to 4.73 with a decrease of 1.53 points after treatment. OAB-V8 score change is significant (p<0.05). While the average was 14.73 before treatment, it decreased to 11.33 with a decrease of 3.40 points after treatment. ICIQ-SF score change is not significant (p>0.05).

In the whole patient group; the change in VPS score is significant (p<0.05). While the average was 6.67 before treatment, it decreased to 4.11 with a decrease of 2.56 points after treatment. OAB-V8 score change is significant (p<0.05).

While the average was 14.87 before treatment, it decreased to 10.48 with a decrease of 4.40 points after treatment. ICIQ-SF score change is significant (p<0.05). While the average was 6.22 before treatment, it decreased to 4.49 with a decrease of 1.73 points after treatment.

ANOVA test was used to examine the pre-and post-treatment questionnaires in terms of drug groups. There were no significant differences between the drug groups in terms of VAS, OAB-V8, and ICIQ-SF measurements before and after treatment (p>0.05). Table 1 summarized the investigation of pre-and post-treatment variation in the whole group and between drug groups.

Discussion

Migraine is a lifespan neurological disorder. Migraine involves recurrent, severe head pain and associated various symptoms while attacks evolve over different phases with specific neural mechanisms and symptoms. In some patients, migraine can develop into a chronic form and adversely affect a person's social life. The mechanisms behind the chronic migraine remain detailed and unknown, genetic, epigenetic factors, inflammatory processes, environmental triggering, and central sensitization might play an important role [7].

Preventive therapy for migraine aims to decrease headache frequency and severity for a better quality of life and progression to CM for episodic patients. There are many agents used for migraine prophylaxis with individual benefits and drawbacks affecting the selection. Beta-blockers; metoprolol, and propranolol are beneficial in hypertensive while the antidepressants like amitriptyline and venlafaxine are preferred in patients with depression or anxiety disorders, and insomnia. Anticonvulsants; valproate acid and topiramate can be used. Especially in women of childbearing age or patients with Raynaud's phenomenon calcium channel blockers, verapamil, and flunarizine might be prescribed. Among other agents are calcitonin gene-related peptide antagonists like erenumab, and galcanezumab [8].

OAB is a condition defined as urinary urgency, usually accompanied by frequent urination and nocturia, with or without urgency urinary incontinence, in the absence of urinary tract infection or other obvious pathology [9]. Urinary incontinence, like a migraine, negatively affects the psychological health and quality of life of women [10]. Unfortunately, few people seek help for this symptom because of embarrassment and stigma [11]. Urinary incontinence accompanying CM will worsen both the quality of life and stigmatization. Both CM and OAB are common in women over the age of 40 and their prevalence will increase over the years due to increasing awareness [12,13].

The comorbidity between CM and OAB will also be supported by comprehensive studies. Both disorders have common factors underlying the relationship in etiopathogenesis, as well as their complex multifactorial etiopathogenesis that remains unclear.

When we examined the literature, we encountered publications that could explain similar etiopathogenesis. Activation of the trigeminovascular system results in the release of vasoactive neuropeptides particularly calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) that induce vasodilation and neurogenic inflammation in leptomeningeal and extracranial vessels causing acute migraine pain. Repeated peripheral activation might sensitize central pain pathways, transforming episodic migraine into a chronic condition in predisposed patients. Similarly, women with OAB have increased density of suburothelial nerve fibers that are immune-reactive for CGRP supporting that increased, aberrant sensory afferent activity might be a factor in OAB pathophysiology [14,15].

Botulinum toxin A treatment is effective in both OAB and CM [16]. Botulinum toxin A has been shown to reduce increased CGRP levels in CM patients [17] and to inhibit CGRP release in the bladder of experimental animals [18]. Finally, central brain structures implicated in OAB and CM pathophysiology, such as the prefrontal cortex, hypothalamus, or periaqueductal grey nuclei are common [19]. The association between CM and OAB based on shared pathophysiological mechanisms should be supported by

further epidemiological studies. In clinical practice, CM as well as OAB patients could be warned about possible comorbidity. In this study, we aimed to determine whether migraine prophylaxis would affect the symptom severity of OAB, and to our knowledge, this is the first study. Based on our previous "Clinical Reflection of OAB Migraine Comorbidity: Prospective Cross-sectional study" data, we compared the VPS scores and OAB symptom scores of CM patients with OAB after six months of prophylactic migraine treatment and found that patients had a regression in both VPS, ICIQ-SF scores and OAB symptoms.

Migraine and OAB are two diseases that both affect the quality of life and psychosocial health. Getting relief, the migraine pain might provide better tolerance and struggle for OAB symptoms. Thus, a psychological benefit and better self-esteem might be responsible for the beneficial effect of migraine prophylaxis on OAB symptoms. It is important not only to feel healthy but also to get rid of the psychological stress of CM and/or OAB symptoms. However, symptoms of OAB hurt the quality of life as these patients are required to identify toilet locations before leaving home and avoid collective activities. Thus, the physical and psychosocial problems of OAB might be hardly bearable in some patients themselves. Similarly, migraine attacks also cause a person to stay away from social activities.

Similar lifestyle changes are recommended in the treatment of migraine and OAB. Lifestyle changes are advised in both disease processes and found to be beneficial but usually insufficient. For OAB, adequate and appropriate fluid intake is advised. Insufficient fluid intake or fluid restriction may play a role in the development of urgency, frequent urination, and urinary tract infections by increasing urine concentration, irritating the bladder mucosa, and reducing the functional capacity of the bladder [19,20]. Studies have shown that the removal of artificial sweeteners and food such as highly spicy foods, citrus fruits, and tomato-containing products from the diet can play a role in the treatment of incontinence [21]. It is recommended to use similar dietary restrictions in migraine patients to reduce the frequency of attacks. As stated, before none of the patients included in the study was given any medication for the treatment of OAB, such as muscarinic receptor antagonists, beta-3 agonists, and desmopressin as this could certainly affect the results. Also, conservative measures specific to OAB were neglected such as timed voiding, special dietary habits (like avoidance of caffeine), and so on. Sleep adjustment, adequate fluid intake, diet, and weight control in necessary patients were recommended for migraine patients. Similar measures might be beneficial for OAB symptoms. Adequate and appropriate fluid intake serves as a quick washout of irritants from the bladder and produces diluted urine [19,20]. Nuotio et al., in their population-based study involving 1059 women and men between the ages of 60 and 89, found a relationship between smoking and urinary urgency, but it was not confirmed by others [22-24]. As studies have shown the relationship between smoking and migraine, cessation of smoking should be recommended in comorbid patients [25]. Nevertheless, lifestyle and dietary adjustments can help manage both migraine and OAB symptoms and quality of life improvement. We have recommended the above-mentioned lifestyle recommendations in addition to prophylactic treatment in CM, thus the regression in OAB symptoms might be partially

influenced. In OAB clinical spectrum conservative measures are usually insufficient in most of the patients, thus attributing the benefit solely to lifestyle changes is not logical.

OAB results in a decrease in the quality of life and an increase in both sensory and affective qualities of pain [26]. The severity of pain is increased in parallel with the severity of symptoms in OAB patients. This result, independent of the effect of OAB on emotional state, supports the hypothesis that central sensitization predisposes to pain syndromes in the pathophysiology of OAB. According to these results, it can be emphasized that patients with OAB may be predisposed to pain syndromes as well as lower urinary tract symptoms and that clinicians should consider this during the evaluation of patients [27].

A study in the literature found that about 30% of OAB patients were accompanied by depression, and these patients complained of more severe OAB symptoms [28]. Some of the agents used in migraine prophylaxis are antidepressants and serve dual benefits, especially in these cases. Tricyclic antidepressants are competitive antagonists of muscarinic acetylcholine receptors, the predominant class of acetylcholine receptors in the brain. However, these agents also block muscarinic receptors in other sites of the body producing symptoms such as blurred vision, dry mouth, and urinary retention. Antidepressants particularly amitriptyline are used in migraine prophylaxis and avoided in this study because of marked anticholinergic properties that are beneficial for OAB patients. Topiramate is an antiepileptic and carbonic anhydrase inhibitor used to treat chronic migraines and does not affect the bladder. Antidepressants, venlafaxine is a serotoninnorepinephrine reuptake inhibitor and receptor data state anticholinergic effects are minimal. However anticholinergic side effects including dry mouth and constipation might be encountered. It is not expected to be beneficial for symptoms of OAB in its therapeutic range. Flunarizine is a calcium antagonist and does not affect the bladder. As stated before drugs that would affect bladder dynamics and be used in the treatment of OAB were excluded and multiple agents were used and randomly selected to prevent selection bias and specific drug effects. None of the patients included in the study was given any medication for the treatment of OAB as this could certainly affect the results. Although the small number of cases in our study is considered a limitation, statistically we obtained significant results in all drug subgroups. We could not obtain statistically significant results in OAB-V8 and ICIO-SF in the venlafaxine group and ICIQS total scores in the flunarizine group. We think that we will shed light on studies aimed at etiopathogenesis with extensive studies involving more cases.

Conclusion

The association between migraine and OAB was confirmed and supported by the favorable effect of CM prophylaxis on OAB symptoms in this study. The beneficial effect of migraine prophylaxis on OAB symptoms supports somewhat shared etiopathogenesis for both disorders. However, the series is small, and considering the involvement of multifactorial factors and complex physiopathology for both disorders further studies are necessary to reveal the underlying mechanisms and clinical impacts. **Ethics Committee Approval:** The study was a cross-sectional prospective study approved by the Hitit University School of Medicine Ethics Committee (ethics committee approval date and number: 06.01.2021/349).

Informed Consent: An informed consent was obtained from all the patients.

Publication: The results of the study were not published in full or in part in form of abstracts.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Any contribution was not made by any individual not listed as an author. Concept – S.E., A.B., F.U.T.; Design – S.E., A.B., F.U.T.; Supervision – S.E., A.B., F.U.T.; Resources – S.E., A.B., F.U.T.; Materials – S.E., A.B., F.U.T.; Data Collection and/or Processing – S.E., A.B., F.U.T.; Analysis and/or Interpretation – S.E., A.B., F.U.T.; Literature Search – S.E., A.B., F.U.T.; Writing Manuscript – S.E., A.B., F.U.T.; Critical Review – S.E., A.B., F.U.T.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declare that this study received no financial support.

References

- [1] Altman D, Iliadou AN, Lundholm C, Milsom I, Pedersen NL. Somatic Comorbidity in Women with Overactive Bladder Syndrome. J Urol. 2016;196(2):473-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.juro.2016.02.076
- [2] Ramos ML, García-Cabo C, Leira R, Domínguez C, Pozo-RosichP, VilaC, etal. Comorbidity between idiopathic overactive bladder and chronic migraine. Cephalalgia. 2018;38(3):581-4. https://doi.org/10.1177/0333102417690127
- [3] Başer A. Eliaçık S. Baykam MM, Uysal Tan F. Clinical Manifestations of Overactive Bladder With Migraine as a Comorbidity: A Prospective Cross-Sectional Study. Int Neurourol J. 2020;24(4):375-81. https://doi.org/10.5213/inj.2040186.093
- [4] Headache Classification Committee of the International Headache Society (IHS). The International Classification of Headache Disorders, 3rd edition. Cephalalgia. 2018;38:1-211. https://doi.org/10.1177/0333102417738202
- [5] Tarcan T, Mangır N, Özgür MÖ, Akbal C. OAB-V8 Overactive bladder inquiry form validation study. Urology Bulletin. 2012;21:113-6. https://www.urolojibulteni.org
- [6] Çetinel B, Özkan B, Can G. ICIQ-SF Turkish Version Validation Study. Turk J Urol. 2004:30(3);332-8. https://urologyresearchandpractice.org/
- [7] Goadsby PJ, Holland PR, Martins-Oliveira M, Hoffman J, Schankin C, Akerman S. Pathophysiology of migraine: a disorder of sensory processing. Physiol Rev. 2017;97(2):553-622. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00034.2015

- [8] Pescador Ruschel M.A, De Jesus O. Migraine Headache; In: StatPearls Publishing: Treasure Island, FL, USA, Bookshelf ID: NBK560787, Last Update: February 13, 2023. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK560787/
- [9] Abrams P, Andersson KE, Birder L, Brubaker L, Cardozo C, Chapple C, et al. Fourth International Consultation on Incontinence Recommendations of the International Scientific Committee: Evaluation and treatment of urinary incontinence, pelvic organ prolapse, and fecal incontinence. Neurourol Urodyn. 2010;29(1):213-40. https://doi.org/10.1002/nau.20870
- [10] Wyman JF, Harkins SW, Choi SC, Taylor JR, Fantl JA. The psychosocial impact of urinary incontinence in women. Obstet Gynecol. 1987;70(3 Pt 1):378-81. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/3627585/
- [11] Shaw C. A review of the psychosocial predictors of helpseeking behavior and impact on quality of life in people with urinary incontinence. J Clin Nurs. 2001;10(1):15-24. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2702.2001.00443.x
- [12] Castillo J, Muñoz P, Guitera V, Pascual J. Kaplan Award 1998. Epidemiology of chronic daily headache in the general population. Headache. 1999;39(3):190-96. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1526-4610.1999.3903190.x
- [13] Stewart WF, Van Rooyen JB, Cundiff GW, Abrams P, Herzog AR, Corey R, et al. Prevalence and burden of overactive bladder in the United States. World J Urol. 2003;20(6):327-36. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00345-002-0301-4
- [14] Iljazi A, Ashina H, Zhuang ZA, Lopez CL, Snellman J, Ashina M, et al. Hypersensitivity to calcitonin gene-related peptide in chronic migraine. Cephalalgia. 2020;41(6):701-10. https://doi.org/10.1177/0333102420981666
- [15] Fowler CJ, Griffiths D, de Groat WC. The neuronal control of micturition. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2008;9(6):453-66. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2401
- [16] Chermansky CJ, Chancellor MB. Use of botulinum toxin in urologic disorders. Urology. 2016;91:21-32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.urology.2015.12.049
- [17] Cernuda-Morollón E, Ramón C, Martínez-Camblor P, Serrano-Pertierra E, Larrosa D, Pascual J. OnabotulinumtoxinA decreases interictal CGRP plasma levels in patients with chronic migraine. Pain. 2015;156(5):820-4. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000000119

- [18] Rapp DE, Turk KW, Bales GT, Cook SP. Botulinum toxin type a inhibits calcitonin gene-related peptide from isolated rat bladder. J Urol. 2006;175(3 Pt 1):1138-42. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-5347(05)00322-8
- [19] Beetz R. Mild dehydration: a risk factor of urinary tract infection? Eur J Clin Nutr. 2003:57Suppl 2:S52-8. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601902
- [20] Dowd TT, Campbell JM, Jones JA. Fluid intake and urinary incontinence in older community-dwelling women. J Community Health Nurs. 1996;13(3);179-86. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327655jchn1303_5
- [21] Newman DK, Wein AJ. Managing and treating urinary incontinence. Health Professions Press, Baltimore, USA 2002.
- [22] Nuotio M, Jylhä M, Koivisto AM, Tammela TL. Association of smoking with urgency in older people. Eur Urol. 2001;40;206-12. https://doi.org/10.1159/000049774
- [23] Tampakoudis P, Tantanassis T, Grimbizis G, Papaletsos M, Mantalenakis S. Cigarette smoking and urinary incontinence in women-a new calculative method of estimating the exposure to smoke. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 1995;63(1);27-30. https://doi.org/10.1016/0301-2115(95)02212-p
- [24] Brown JS, Seeley DG, Fong J, Black DM, Ensrud KE, Grady D. Urinary incontinence in older women: who is at risk? Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. Obstet Gynecol. 1996;87(5 Pt 1);715-21. https://doi.org/10.1016/0029-7844(96)00013-0
- [25] Tietjen G. E, Maly E.F. Migraine and Ischemic Stroke in Women. A Narrative Review. Headache. 2020;60(5):843-63. https://doi.org/10.1111/head.13796
- [26] Tüfekçi B, Comparison of Pain Characteristics of Women With And Without Overactive Bladder Diagnosis, Başkent University Institute of Health Sciences, Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation Program, Master's Thesis, Ankara 2019.
- [27] Leo RJ, Singh J. Migraine headache and bipolar disorder comorbidity: a systematic review of the literature and clinical implications. Scand J Pain. 2016;11:136-45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjpain.2015.12.002
- [28] Lai HH, Shen B, Rawal A, Vetter J. The relationship between depression and overactive bladder/urinary incontinence symptoms in the clinical OAB population. BMC Urol. 2016;16(1):60. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12894-016-0179-x



Activity of Diosmin-Hesperidin in Kidney Ischemia-reperfusion Injury in Rats: Experimental Study

Ratlarda Böbrek İskemi-Reperfüzyon Hasarında Diosmin-Hesperidin'in Etkinliği: Deneysel Çalışma

Kenan Yalçın¹, Erim Ersoy²

¹Department of Urology, Tokat Gazi Osmanpasa University Faculty of Medicine, Tokat, Türkiye ²Department of Urology, University of Health Sciences, Ankara Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Türkiye

Cite as: Yalçın K, Ersoy E. Activity of diosmin-hesperidin in kidney ischemia-reperfusion injury in rats: Experimental study. Grand J Urol 2024;4(1):12-8

Submission date: 16 August 2023 Acceptance date: 02 November 2023 Online first: 06 November 2023 Publication date: 19 January 2024

Corresponding Author: Kenan Yalçın / Tokat Gazi Osmanpasa University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Tokat, Türkiye / krsyalcin@yahoo.com ORCID ID: 0000-0003-3560-5862

Abstract

Objective: We aimed to investigate the activity of diosmin-hesperidin (DAFLON®) in ischemia-reperfusion injury in the rat kidney.

Materials and Methods: Twenty-four Wistar rats were used for the experimental study. Each group comprised of 8 subjects. Sham group (Group 1) was nephrectomized for histopathologic examination and blood samples were obtained for biochemical analysis. Control group (Group 2) was subjected to ischemia for 1 hour and reperfusion for 24 hours, then they were nephrectomized for histopathologic examination and blood samples were taken for biochemical analysis. Treatment group (Group 3) was given 80 mg/kg diosmin-hesperidin combination (DAFLON®) for 10 days and subjected to ischemia for 1-hour and reperfusion for 24 hours, then they were nephrectomized for histopathologic examination and blood samples were obtained for biochemical analysis.

Results: As a result of biochemical analysis and histopathologic examination, more significant results were acquired in regard to other groups. Serum urea values were statistically significant (p<0.05). Consistent with the results of the studies previously performed, higher creatinine values were detected in the control and treatment groups. Enzymatic activities of superoxide dismutase and glutathione peroxidase were significantly lower in the treatment group when compared with the control group. When groups were compared based on histopathologic examination findings, cell necrosis and ischemic alterations were statistically significant parameters (p<0.05). When all parameters were analysed, values indicating any histopathologic abnormalities were at the lowest level in the treatment group. Histopathologic alterations were most frequently detected in the control group.

Conclusion: Anti-inflammatory activity of diosmin-hesperidin which is used experimentally in the treatment of ischemia-reperfusion injury was evaluated both biochemically and histopathologically. Based on the literature data, it is thought that the damage occurring after ischemia-reperfusion injury can be prevented with diosmin-hesperidin treatment.

Keywords: kidney, ischemia-reperfusion injury, diosmin-hesperidin

Özet

Amaç: Rat böbreğinde iskemi-reperfüzyon hasarında diosmin-hesperidin'in (DAFLON®) etkinliğini deneysel bir çalışma ile araştırmayı amaçladık. Gereçler ve Yöntemler: 24 adet Wistar rat deneysel çalışma için kullanıldı. Her grup 8 adet denekten oluşmaktaydı. Sham grubu (Grup 1) histopatolojik inceleme için nefrektomi ve biyokimyasal analiz için kan alınan gruptu. Kontrol grubu (Grup 2) 1 saat iskemi ve 24 saat reperfüzyon yapılıp sonrasında histopatolojik inceleme için nefrektomi ve biyokimyasal analiz izin kan alınan gruptu. Tedavi grubu (Grup 3) ise 10 gün boyunca 80mg/kg/gün dozunda diosmin hesperidin (DAFLON®) verildikten sonra 1 saat iskemi ve 24 saat reperfüzyon yapılıp sonrasında histopatolojik inceleme için nefrektomi ve biyokimyasal analiz için kan alınan gruptu.

Bulgular: Yapılan biyokimyasal analizler ve histopatolojik değerlendirmeler sonucunda tedavi grubunda diğer gruplara göre daha anlamlı sonuçlar elde edildi. Serum üre değerleri istatistiksel olarak anlamlıydı (p<0.05). Diğer biyokimyasal parametrelerden kreatinin değeri ise yapılan çalışmalarla doğru orantılı olarak kontrol grubu ve tedavi grubunda yüksek bulundu. Süperoksit dismutaz ve Glutatyon peroksidaz enzim aktiviteleri de tedavi grubunda kontrol grubuyla karşılaştırıldığında anlamlı derecede düşük bulundu. Histopatolojik değerlendirmeler sonucunda da gruplar karşılaştırıldığında hücre nekrozu ve iskemik değişiklikler istatistiksel olarak anlamlıydı (p<0.05). Bütün parametreler incelendiğinde histopatolojik bozukluğu gösteren değerler tedavi grubunda en alt düzeydeydi. En fazla ise kontrol grubunda değişimler mevcuttu.

Sonuç: İskemi reperfüzyon hasarında deneysel olarak kullanılan diosmin-hesperidin etkinliği hem biyokimyasal hem de histopatolojik olarak değerlendirildi. Literatür gözden geçirildiğinde, iskemi- reperfüzyon hasarı sonrası diosmin-hesperidin tedavisi ile oluşan hasarın engellenebileceği düşünülmektedir.

Anahtar kelimeler: böbrek, iskemi-reperfüzyon hasarı, diosmin-hesperidin

ORCID ID: E. Ersoy 0009-0003-7550-6014

© Copyright 2024 by GJU. Activity of diosmin-hesperidin in kidney ischemia-reperfusion injury in rats: Experimental study by Kenan Yalçın is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License which permits unrestricted non-commercial re-use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Introduction

With the higher prevalence of surgical interventions that reduce renal blood flow such as transplantation, trauma, anatrophic nephrolithotomy, nephron-sparing surgery, and renal artery surgery ischemia-reperfusion injury has been more frequently cited in the literature. In ischemia, oxygen required to maintain aerobic metabolism is not supplied to the living tissue. Recovery of normal blood flow after a period of ischemia is called reperfusion. Since the self-control of the metabolism of the oxygen entering the atmosphere with reperfusion of the organ that remains ischemic for a while deteriorates, free oxygen radicals (FORs) with their toxic effects become manifest and cause ischemia-reperfusion injury in the tissue. Along with emerging FORs, activation of various proteases and phospholipase A2 by calcium entering the cell during ischemia is also a response to ischemia-reperfusion injury [1-5].

The response that organs give to experimental ischemiareperfusion injury was very well specified in the rats and rats were preferred as experimental animals in most of the literature studies [2-6]. During ischemia, the tissue is damaged by asphyxiation and when the normal blood flow is retrieved, tissue damage aggravates greatly as a result of a series of events caused by the oxygen entering the atmosphere [7,8].

Mitochondrial electron transport chain reactions, inhibition of arachidonic acid metabolites, increase in intracellular calcium levels, xanthine oxidase system, iron ion, etc. involve in the production of FORs which induce ischemia-reperfusion injury in the kidney tissue. These factors affect each other sequentially and disrupt cell functions, increase membrane destruction, and result in the production of endogenous toxins [9-13].

The only way of treatment in ischemic kidneys is to increase the renal blood flow through reperfusion. Yet in that case reperfusion damage inevitably occurs. In such a case, since the increase of blood supply is inevitable, it is necessary to look for solutions to prevent reperfusion damage. Many agents such as vitamin E, melatonin, phospholipase type 3 enzyme inhibitors (amrinone, olprinone), adenosine, n-acetyl cysteine, nitric oxide (NO), calcium channel blockers, mycophenolate mofetil have been used in order to prevent or alleviate renal ischemia-reperfusion injury associated with various etiologic factors [10,11].

Diosmin-hesperidin is produced by the purification of flavonoid extracts of a plant found in the nature. Daflon is a phlebotonic and vasculoprotector agent that is comprised of 90% diosmin and 10% hesperidin. Hesperidin reinforces the activity of diosmin, improves wound recovery by acting against inflammatory mediators and protects microcirculation via decreasing blood viscosity [14].

Diosmin-hesperidin has also shown anti-inflammatory effects through many mechanisms of action in our study. Many studies have been conducted on significant ischemia-reperfusion injury preventing effects of diosmin-hesperidin in multiple organs such as heart, brain muscle tissue, and peritoneum [14,15].

Diosmin-hesperidin is an important antioxidant drug combination. Leukocyte aggregation is important in ischemiareperfusion injury and damage can be prevented with diosminhesperidin at daily oral doses of 500 mg. Also, this drug combination reduces the amount of H2O2 released from leukocytes by suppressing activity of myeloperoxidase (MPO). A decrease in the MPO activity can explain the decrease in H2O2 in the group that received diosmin-hesperidin at doses protecting against oxidative stress associated with glutathione (GSH). Diosmin-hesperidin given at doses protecting against oxidative stress associated with GSH guards the escape of macromolecules from the microvascular structures. According to histopathological data, diosmin-hesperidin prevents infiltration of leukocytes into the perivascular area. Although it does not totally prevent leukocyte infiltration, a significant reduction in leukocyte accumulation in the perivascular area in the kidney was observed [16].

We have aimed to experimentally investigate the activity of diosmin-hesperidin, which acts against inflammatory mediators in ischemia-reperfusion injury and protects microcirculation by decreasing blood viscosity in cases with renal ischemiareperfusion injury.

Materials and Methods

Twenty-four healthy adult Wistar rats weighing between 300-380 gr (average 340 gr) were used in the study. Experimental animals were tracked by keeping them at normal room temperature and in separate cages during preoperative and postoperative periods. Anesthesia was provided with the combination of ketamine IM (40 mg/kg, Ketalar 50 mg/cc, Parke-Davis) and xylazin HCI IV (10 mg/kg, Rompun, 23-32 mg/cc, Bayer). According to experimental protocol maintenance of anesthesia was provided with the same doses. Ethics committee approval for the study was acquired from the Ethics Committee of Ankara Training and Research Hospital (Date: 18.02.2009, Decision No: 2347).

In this study, rats were separated into three groups of 8 subjects. Experimental animals were tracked for 10 days by being kept at normal room temperature and in separate cages during preoperative and postoperative periods. Groups 1 and 2 were followed up without giving any treatment. Daily doses of 80 mg/kg diosmin-hesperidin (DAFLON®) were given to Group 3 subjects for 10 days by crushing film-coated tablets and adding them in their drinking water. At the end of the 10th day, only Group 1 rats underwent nephrectomy through laparotomy incision. In Groups 2 and 3, ischemia was induced in the renal artery for 60 minutes. After 24 hours, for the subjects in each group, before the procedure, serum samples were collected for the measurement of glutathione peroxidase, superoxide dismutase and urea creatinine. Then nephrectomy specimens in 10% formaldehyde solution were sent for histopathologic evaluation (Figure 1).



Figure 1a. Right kidney on which warm ischemia model with microvascular clamp constituted (Groups 2 and 3) **1b.** Nephrectomy performed right kidney after ischemia-reperfusion injury

After tissue samples in 10% formaldehyde were embedded in paraffin blocks and stained with hematoxylin-eosin, all preparations were examined under light microscope by a pathologist blinded to the study protocol. A semiquantitative scale defined by Paller et al. who evaluated, and scored the alterations in acute renal insufficiency was used [1].

Modified scoring system defined by Paller et al:

- 1- Chronic inflammation (0, +, ++)
- 2- Tubular epithelial cell flattening (0, +, ++)
- 3- Cytoplasmic vacuoalization (0, +, ++)
- 4- Cell necrosis and ischemic changes (0, +, ++)
- 5- Tubular lumen obstruction (0, +, ++)

Statistical Analysis

Data analysis was performed using the SPSS 15 package program. While descriptive statistics were shown as mean \pm standard deviation for blood creatinine values, alterations in histopathologic results and blood parameters were shown as average (minimum-maximum) values. One-Way Anova analysis was used in the comparisons of blood parameters both within and between groups. T-test with Bonferroni correction was used to investigate whether there is a significant alteration in the groups in regard to serum urea creatinine levels. Percent changes between groups in serum urea creatinine levels within 24 hours were calculated, and intergroup comparisons were performed. The statistical significance of histopathologic scores between groups was analyzed using the Kruskal-Wallis test. The results were accepted as statistically significant at p<0.05.

Results

Serum Urea Values

Average serum urea values were significantly higher in the control (Group 2) and treatment (Group 3) groups compared to the sham group (Group 1). The highest value was found in the control group. A statistically significant difference was detected between the groups (p<0.05) (Figure 2).



Figure 2a. Range of urea values between groups 2b. Range of creatinine values between groups

Serum Creatinine Values

Average serum creatinine values were higher in the control and the treatment groups compared to the sham group. There was no statistically significant difference between the groups in this regard (p>0.05) (Figure 2).

Superoxide Dismutase Enzyme Values

Superoxide dismutase enzyme values were higher in the control group compared to the other groups. The sham group and treatment group had approximately the same values. There

was no statistically significant difference between the groups in this regard (p>0.05).

Glutathione Peroxidase Enzyme Values

Highest glutathione peroxidase enzyme values were found in the control group. The sham group and treatment group had approximately the same values. There was no statistically significant difference between the groups in this regard (p>0.05).

Results of Histopathological Evaluation

According to histopathological classification defined by Paller et al., a total of 100 cortical tubules from 10 different microscopic field of views were evaluated in the kidney preparation of each experimental animal. An average score for each case was stated by averaging the scores. From the average scores of 8 rats in each group, the general average and standard deviation were calculated.

Histopathological evaluation revealed the presence of significant intergroup differences. Especially cell necrosis, tubular lumen obstruction, chronic inflammation, cytoplasmic vacuolization, and epithelial cell flattening were more common in the control and treatment groups when compared with the sham group. The most distinct histopathological alterations were cell necrosis and inflammation which were observed significantly less frequently in the treatment group relative to the control group (Figure 3).

There were histopathological differences between the control group and the treatment group. Histopathological alterations which are the indicator of kidney insufficiency were more common in the control group. The frequency of histopathological alterations in the treatment group was nearly close to the sham group. The most distinct alteration was cell necrosis and ischemic changes were less common in the treatment group. Cell necrosis and ischemic alterations were statistically significant findings (p<0.05).

Histopathological alterations indicating all reperfusion injuries were observed more commonly in the control group. In the treatment group, severe histopathological alterations were observed less frequently compared to the control group. The histopathological alterations caused by kidney reperfusion injury in the treatment group were observed significantly less frequently compared to the control group. The most distinct alteration was cell necrosis and ischemic changes were less common in the treatment group (p<0.05) (Table 1).

As a result of histopathological evaluations, the most distinct alteration was found in the treatment group. As a critically important finding cell necrosis and ischemic alterations were significantly different between the treatment, and control groups. There were partial cell necrosis and ischemic alterations in the treatment group, while cell necrosis and ischemic alterations were more frequently seen in the control group with a statistically significant intergroup difference (p<0.05) (Figure 3).

Discussion

There is no need for specifying a specific ischemia time for the revelation of the effects of experimental ischemiareperfusion injury. In experiments performed with rat kidneys, Williams et al. [5] indicated that reperfusion injury emerged after ischemia lasting for 45 minutes, while Paller et al. [1]



Figure 3a. Histopathological analysis of the kidney, all histopathological sections were dyed with hematoxylin-eosin (HEx100). Necrosis in the tubules of the sham group and cell casts (debris) in the tubule were followed insignificantly. 3b. Ischemiareperfusion + Daflon (80 mg/kg/day) performed treatment group. It was observed that in necrosis in the tubuler cells decreased at the p<0.05 level compared to the control group, and there was a significant decrease in the intratubular caste deposition at the p<0.05 level. 3c. Distinct tubular cell necrosis and intratubular caste deposition were noticed in the control group. In the treatment group, these changes were less than in the control group and were in the form of focal alterations. **3d.** Ischemic alterations were noticed in the control group. In the treatment group, these changes were less than in the control group and could be observed focally. 3e. Alterations related to chronic inflammation were noticed in the control group. In the treatment group, these changes were less than in the control group and were focal. 3f. Alterations related to tubular lumen obstruction were noticed in the control group. In the treatment group, these changes were less than in the control group. 3g. Alterations related to the flattening in the tubular luminal epithelium were noticed in the control group. In the treatment group, these changes were less than in the control group and were focal. 3h. Alterations related to the cytoplasmic vacuolization were noticed in the control group. In the treatment group, these changes were less than in the control group and were at a focal level.

Tal	ble	1. H	listo	patl	hol	logi	ical	data
-----	-----	------	-------	------	-----	------	------	------

	(Group1	G	roup 2	G	roup 3	р
Chronic inflammation	n	%	n	%	n	%	
	7	87.5	3	37.5	5	62.5	0.253
	1	12.5	4	50	3	37.5	
	0	0	1	12.5	0	0	
Tubular epithelial cell flattening	n	%	n	%	n	%	
	6	85.7	4	50	5	62.5	0.261
	1	14.3	2	25	3	37.5	
	0	0	2	25	0	0	
Cytoplasmic vacuolization	n	%	n	%	n	%	
	6	75	1	12.5	3	37.5	0.126
	2	25	5	62.5	3	37.5	
	0	0	2	25	2	25	
Cell Necrosis and ishcemic changes	n	%	n	%	n	%	
	8	100	0	0	5	62.5	0.000
	0	0	2	25	3	37.5	
	0	0	6	75	0	0	
Tubular lumen obstruction	n	%	n	%	n	%	
	8	100	3	37.5	5	62.5	0.127
	0	0	3	37.5	2	25	
	0	0	2	25	1	12.5	

stated that it emerged after ischemia persisting for 60 minutes. In this study, renal ischemia applied for 60 minutes was preferred in consistent with literature data. It has been reported that renal ischemia-reperfusion injury becomes manifest at the earliest within 4 hours based on the analyzes of tissue samples and serum analytes and reached its peak at 24 hours [9]. As we desired to investigate the effects of renal ischemia-reperfusion injury clearly in our study, other procedures were also initiated 24 hours after reperfusion.

In our study; we observed that in the model we formed by applying ischemia for 60 minutes and reperfusion for 24 hours, the levels of plasma urea and creatinine which are indicators of renal glomerular insufficiency in the treatment and the control groups increased. While serum urea values were statistically significantly higher (p<0.05), creatinine values were not. However, their median average values were significantly increased. Scarce number of data, uncertainties about the dosages and time periods specified for the treatment were thought to be the reasons for not obtaining statistically significant results.

A significant reduction in activities of renal antioxidant enzymes and histopathological manifestations suggestive of necrosis was observed. Low antioxidant enzyme activity is an indicator of a mild ischemia-reperfusion injury. Enzyme activities were at the highest level in the control group. Because this group was exposed most often to the adverse effects of ischemia-reperfusion injury compared to the other groups. In the sham and treatment groups, enzyme activities were almost at the same level and quite low compared to the control group. As a result of this finding, it can interpreted that the treatment group was least affected by ischemia-reperfusion injury.

When studies were reviewed, there was no specific dosage used for the prevention of renal ischemia-reperfusion injury [1,5]. An average dose used in our study was determined based on the studies conducted on other organs.

Histopathologically there was a statistically significant decrease, especially in cell necrosis and ischemic alterations (p<0.05). The scoring system defined by Paller et al. [1] and used in acute kidney insufficiency was modified and applied in our study. We detected that the treatment group was more effective in improving all parameters taken into consideration and less damaging to the cell relative to the control group. Our findings were consistent with those of many studies investigating therapeutic activity of diosmin-hesperidin in muscle tissue, brain tissue, peritoneum, and heart tissue with ensuing histopathologically significant results [14,15].

Dobashi et al. applied renal ischemia (30, 60, 90 min.) and reperfusion (2, 24, 72, 120 hours) for different time periods, and noticed a significant decrease in superoxide dismutase and glutathione peroxidase activities and increase at the level of lipid peroxidation in the group in which they applied ischemia for 60 minutes and reperfusion for 24 hours [15]. Also in the studies where ischemia and reperfusion were applied for different durations, decrease in glutathione levels whereas increase in peroxidation and plasma urea and creatinine levels were indicated. Our findings were consistent with the results of previous studies [15,17].

Many studies cited in the literature have shown the favborable effect of diosmin-hesperidin on alleviating or preventing ischemia-reperfusion injury [14,15]. In our study, diosmin-hesperidin at a dose of 500 mg that prevented the development of ischemia-reperfusion injury in other organs was also found to be effective in preventing renal ischemia-reperfusion injury.

Diosmin-hesperidin is a medication used in venous insufficiency of extremities and venous system diseases such as hemorrhoids. Its venous tone enhancing, capillary resistance, and capillary permeability regulating, and lymphatic drainage enhancing effects are known. Besides, its free radical scavenging and leukocyte adherence-reducing effects have been shown. Duchene-Marullaz et al. demonstrated that it significantly reduced free radical activity, chemotactic reaction, and free radical activity induced by leucocyte phagocytosis consistent with our findings [18].

Stucker et al. conducted a microvascular permeability study using fibrils of cremaster muscle, and indicated that the treatment with diosmin-hesperidin also significantly reduced the residue induced by ischemia and bradykinin in vascular permeability [19]. In in vitro and in vivo studies, Di Peri and Auteri demonstrated that diosmin-hesperidin reduced the activity of the complement system, and this mechanism of action was considered to constitute one of the anti-inflammatory effects of this drug therapy which also contributes favorably to the ulcer recovery [20].

Schoab et al. conducted a study on patients with chronic venous insufficiency using diosmin-hesperidin, and showed that it increased wound recovery by reducing oscillations in endothelial VCAM1 and ICAM1 expressions, preventing leukocyte adhesion, activation, and migration which consequently shortening the recovery time in patients with venous insufficiency [21]. Coloridge-Smith et al. conducted a meta-analysis on patients with venous ulcers developed as a result of chronic venous insufficiency, and showed that administering diosmin-hesperidin in addition to conventional treatment was effective in the rapid reduction of ulcer-related symptoms and sizes of ulcers compared to conventional treatment only [22].

Hasanoğlu et al., showed that diosmin-hesperidin was systematically and topically effective in infected skin injuries and improved wound recovery [23,24]. Pecking et al. investigated the effects of diosmin-hesperidin in upper extremity lymphedema developed after breast cancer surgery, and showed that diosmin-hesperidin was an effective treatment of lymphedema by increasing lymphatic flow in lymphedema, significantly reducing intralymphatic pressure and at the same time increasing the return of interstitial fluid to the capillaries [16]. Hasanoğlu et al. used diosmin-hesperidin systematically and topically in infected second-degree burns and showed that wound recovery was faster and better in patients in whom diosmin-hesperidin was used [24].

Many above-mentioned studies have indicated that diosminhesperidin was effective in preventing inflammatory effects and injury caused by free oxygen radicals. Therefore, frequent use of diosmin-hesperidin at the experimental level as an antiinflammatory drug in ischemia-reperfusion injury conveys extreme importance as has been always observed in previously performed studies. Our study has shown that diosmin-hesperidin exerted anti-inflammatory effects that prevented development of ischemia-reperfusion injury.

Conclusion

In this study, the effect of diosmin-hesperidin on renal ischemia-reperfusion injury and whether this drug treatment can be used before development of ischemia-reperfusion injury were investigated. The effects of diosmin-hesperidin on ischemiareperfusion injury were histopathologically and biochemically evaluated. As a result of histopathological and biochemical evaluations, favorable results of diosmin-hesperidin on the prevention of ischemia-reperfusion injury were obtained. When the literature is reviewed, it has been concluded that the damage caused by ischemia-reperfusion injury can be prevented with diosmin-hesperidin treatment.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval for the study was acquired from the Ethics Committee of Ankara Training and Research Hospital (Date: 18.02.2009, Decision No: 2347).

Informed Consent: An informed consent was obtained from all the patients.

Publication: The results of the study were not published in full or in part in form of abstracts.

Peer-review: Externally and internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Any contribution was not made by any individual not listed as an author. Concept – K.Y., E.E.; Design – K.Y., E.E.; Supervision – K.Y., E.E.; Resources – K.Y., E.E.; Materials – K.Y., E.E.; Data Collection and/or Processing – K.Y., E.E.; Analysis and/or Interpretation – K.Y., E.E.; Literature Search – K.Y., E.E.; Writing Manuscript – K.Y., E.E.; Critical Review – K.Y., E.E.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declare that this study received no financial support.

References

- Paller MS, Hoidal JR, Ferris TF. Oxygen free radicals in ischemic acute renal failure in the rat. J Clin Invest. 1984;74(4):1156-64. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI111524
- [2] Hillegass LM, Griswold DE, Brickson B, Albrightson-Winsbw C. Assessment of myeloperoxidase activity in whole rat kidney. J Pharmacol Methods. 1990;24(4):285-95. https://doi.org/10.1016/0160-5402(90)90013-b
- [3] Karasawa A, Kubo K. Protection by benidipine hydrochloride (KW-3049), a calcium antagonist, of ischemic kidney in rats via inhibitions of Ca-overload, ATP-decline and lipid peroxidation. Japan J Pharmocol. 1990;52(4):553-62. https://doi.org/10.1254/jjp.52.553
- [4] Laight DW, Lad N, Woodward B, Waterfall JF. Assessment of myeloperoxidase activity in renal tissue after ischemia/ reperfusion. Eur J Pharmacol. 1994;292(1):81-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/0926-6917(94)90029-9
- [5] Williams P, Lopez H, Britt D, Chan C, Ezrin A, Hottendorf R. Characterization of renal ischemia-reperfusion injury in rats. J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods. 1997;37(1):1-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1056-8719(96)00141-4
- [6] Zager RA, Jurkowitz MS, Merola AJ. Response of the normal rat kidney to sequential ischemic events. Am J Physiol. 1985;149(1Pt2):F148-59. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajprenal.1985.249.1.F148
- [7] Bulkey GB. Free radical mediated reperfusion injury: a selective review. Br J Cancer Suppl. 1987;8:66-73. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/3307876/
- [8] McCord JM. Oxygen derived free radicals in postischemic tissue injury. N Engl J Med. 1985;312(3):159-63. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM198501173120305
- [9] Andreoli SP. Reactive oxygen motecutes, oxidant injury and renal disaese. Pediatr Nephrol 1991;5(6):733-42. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00857888

- [10] Baud L, Ardaillaou R. Involment of reactive oxygen species in kidney damage. Br Med Bull. 1993;49(3):621-9. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.bmb.a072635
- [11] Greene EL, Paller MS. Oxygen free radicals in acut renal failure. Miner Electrolyte Metab. 1991;17(2):124-32. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/1753921/
- [12] Douzinas EE, Livaditi O, Tasoulis MK, Prigouris P, Bakos D, Goutas N, et al. Nitrosative and oxidative stresses contribute to post-ischemic liver injury following severe hemorrhagic shock: the role of hypoxemic resuscitation. PLoS One. 2012;7(3):e32968. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0032968
- [13] Arkadopoulos N, Defterevos G, Nastos C, Papalois A, Kalimeris K, Papoutsidakis N, et al. Development of a porcine model of post-hepatectomy liver failure. J Surg Res. 2011;170(2):e233-42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jss.2011.06.006
- [14] Sahna E, Parlakpinar H, Cihan OF, Türkoz Y, Acet A. Effect of aminoguanidine against renal ischemia-reperfusion injury in rats. Cell Biochem Funct. 2006;24(2):137-41. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbf.1196
- [15] Dobashi K, Ghosh B, Orak JK, Singh I, Singh AK. Kidney ischemia-reperfusion: Modulation of antioxidant defenses. Mol Cell Biochem. 2000;205(1-2):1-11. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1007047505107
- [16] Pecking AP, Fevrier B, Wargon C, Pillion G. Efficacy of Daflon 500 mg in the treatment of Lymphedema (secondary to conventional therapy of breast cancer). Angiology. 1997;48(1):93-8. https://doi.org/10.1177/000331979704800115
- [17] Conesa EL, Valero F, Nadal JC, Fenoy FJ, López B, Arregui B, et al. N-acetyl-L-cysteine improves renal medullary hypoperfusion in acute renal failure. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2001;281(3):R730-7. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.2001.281.3.R730
- [18] Duchene-Marullaz P, Duhault J. Interference of S 5862 WITH 2 types of free radical induced effects. X. The International Congress of Pharmacology. August 1987, Sydney.
- [19] Stucker D, Bonhemme E. Daflon 500 mg depresses bradykinine -ischemia-induced microvasküler permeabilte.
 1st Mediterranean Congress of Angiology, May 29- June 3, 1988, Corfou, Greece.
- [20] Di Perri T, Auteri A. Action of S5682 on the comlemant system. In vitro and in vivo study. Int Angiol. 1988;7 (Suppl2):11-5. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/3183451/

- [21] Schoab SS, Porter J, Scurr JH, Coleridge-Smith PD. Endotelial activation response to oral micronised flavanoid therapyin patients with chronic venous disease-a prospective study. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 1999;17(4)313-8. https://doi.org/10.1053/ejvs.1998.0751
- [22] Coloridge-Smith P, Lok C, Ramelet AA. Venous leg ulcer: a meta- analysis of adjuctive therapy with micronized purified flavanoid fraction. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2005;30(2):198-208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejvs.2005.04.017
- [23] Hasanoglu A, Ara C, Ozen S, Kali K, Senol M, Ertas E. Efficacy of micronized Flavonoid Fraction in Healing of clean and infected wounds. Int. J Angiology. 2001;10(1):41-4. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01616343
- [24] Hasanoğlu A, Ara C, Kali K, Özen S, Ertaş E. Effect of micronized flavoonoid fraction on healing of infected second degree burns. Journal of Clinical and Experimental Surgery. 2000;8(3):144-8. https://vestnik-surgery.com



Effect of the Hounsfield Unit Calculated on the Non-contrast Computed Tomography of Kidney and Ureteral Stones on the Success of Fragmentation with a Holmium: YAG Laser in Ureterorenoscopy and Retrograde Intrarenal Surgery

Böbrek ve Üreter Taşlarının Kontrastsız Bilgisayarlı Tomografi Üzerinde Hesaplanan Hounsfield Ünitesinin Holmium Yag Laser ile Yapılan Üreterorenoskopi ve Retrograd İntrarenal Cerrahi Tedavisinde Fragmantasyon Üzerindeki Etkisi

Muhittin Atar¹ 🕼, Abdullah Turan¹ 🕼, Ali Haydar Yılmaz² 🕲, Fatih Kürsat Yılmazel¹ 🕲, İbrahim Karabulut¹ 🕲 Sercan Sarı³ 🕲 Abdullah Gürel⁴ 🕲

¹Department of Urology, University of Health Sciences, Erzurum City Hospital, Erzurum, Türkiye

³Department of Urology, Yozgat Bozok University Faculty of Medicine, Yozgat, Türkiye

⁴Department of Urology, Afyonkarahisar Health Sciences University, Afyonkarahisar, Türkiye

Cite as: Atar M, Turan A, Yılmaz AH, Yılmazel FK, Karabulut I, Sarı S, Gürel A. Effect of the Hounsfield unit calculated on the non-contrast computed tomography of kidney and ureteral stones on the success of fragmentation with a Holmium: YAG laser in ureterorenoscopy and retrograde intrarenal surgery. Grand J Urol 2024;4(1):19-24

Submission date: 31 October 2023 Acceptance date: 16 December 2023 Online first: 23 December 2023 Publication date: 19 January 2024 Corresponding Author: Muhittin Atar / University of Health Sciences, Erzurum City Hospital, Urology, Erzurum, Türkiye / muhittinatar25@hotmail.com.tr ORCID ID: 0000-0001-9904-0616

Abstract

Objective: This study aimed to investigate the effect of stone density on the success of ureterorenoscopy (URS) and retrograde intrarenal surgery (RIRS). **Materials and Methods:** The data of patients who underwent URS or RIRS due to kidney and ureteral stones between January 2013 and March 2018 were retrospectively screened. For all patients, age, gender, comorbidities, the American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) score, the presence of preoperative double-J (DJ) stents, extracorporeal shock wave lithotripsy (ESWL) history, ipsilateral stone surgery history, the presence of renal anomalies, stone laterality, stone opacity, stone density, stone size, stone volume, operative time, stone-free status, and the presence and size of residual stones were recorded.

Results: The study included 566 patients who underwent URS or RIRS, including 186 women (32.9%) and 380 (67.1%) men. The mean age of the patients was 47 years. The mean stone size was 10 mm, and the mean stone density was 886 Hounsfield units. The mean stone volume was 426.13 mm³. The mean operative time was 31 minutes. The stone-free rate was 89.4%. Stone density, stone size, and stone volume were positively correlated with operative time (p<0.001) and residual stone size (p<0.001). Additionally, stone density and residual stone size were positively correlated in the group that did not achieve stone-free status (p=0.003).

Conclusion: In this study, it was determined that stone density, stone size, and stone volume were positively correlated with residual stone size and operative time. In addition, stone density was positively correlated with residual stone size among patients who were not stone-free after treatment, indicating that high stone density negatively affects the success of treatment even in cases presenting with small stone size and volume preoperatively. **Keywords:** ureteroscopy, retrograde intrarenal surgery, stone density, stone size, stone volume

Özet

Amaç: Bu çalışmada, taş dansitesinin üreterorenoskopi (URS) ve retrograt intrarenal cerrahi (RIRS) başarısı üzerine etkisini araştırmayı amaçladık. Gereçler ve Yöntemler: Ocak 2013-Mart 2018 tarihleri arasında böbrek ve üreter taşı nedeniyle URS veya RIRS yapılan hastaların verileri retrospektif olarak tarandı. Hastaların yaşı, cinsiyeti, eşlik eden hastalıkları, ASA (American Society of Anesthesiologists) skoru, preoperatif double-J (DJ) stent varlığı, ESWL öyküsü, ipsilateral taş cerrahisi öyküsü, renal anomalinin varlığı, taş lateralitesi, taş opasitesi, taş dansitesi, taş boyutu, taş hacmi, operasyon süresi, taşsızlık durumu ve rezidü taş varlığı kaydedildi.

Bulgular: Çalışmamızda 186 kadın (%32.9), 380 (%67.1) erkek olmak üzere URS ve RIRS yapılan 566 hasta mevcuttu. Hastaların yaş ortalaması 47 idi. Hastaların ortalama taş boyutu 10 mm, ortalama taş dansitesi (HU) 886 idi. Ortalama taş hacmi ise 426.13 mm³'tü. Ortalama operasyon süresi 31 dakikaydı. Taşsızlık oranı %89.4 idi. Taş dansitesi, taş boyutu ve taş hacminin operasyon süresi (p<0.001) ve rezidü taş (p<0.001) boyutuyla pozitif korele olduğu belirlendi. Ayrıca, stone free olmayan hastalarda taş dansitesi ile rezidü boyutunun pozitif korele olduğu belirlendi (p=0.003).

Sonuç: Çalışmamızda taş dansitesi, taş boyutu ve taş hacminin rezidü taş boyutu ve operasyon süresiyle pozitif korele olduğu belirlendi. Ayrıca, stonefree olmayan hastalarda taş dansitesinin rezidü boyutu ile pozitif korele olması yüksek taş dansitesinin taş boyutu ve hacmi düşük olsa dahi taşsızlığı olumsuz etkilediğini göstermektedir.

Anahtar kelimeler: üreteroskopi, retrograt intrarenal cerrahi, taş dansitesi, taş boyutu, taş hacmi

ORCID ID:	A. Turan	0000-0002-2916-5058	F.K. Yılmazel	0000-0001-8744-5317	S. Sarı	0000-0002-0994-3799
	A.H. Yılmaz	0000-0001-5797-0655	İ. Karabulut	0000-0001-6766-0191	A. Gürel	0000-0003-3112-448X

© Copyright 2022 by Grand Journal of Urology. Devent This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial License 4.0 (http://creativecommons. org/licenses/by-nc/4.0) which permits unrestricted non-commercial re-use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

² Department of Urology, Bilecik Training and Research Hospital, Bilecik, Türkiye

Introduction

Urinary system stone disease is one of the oldest diseases affecting human health. The prevalence rate of stone disease varies between 1 and 20%, depending on climate, ethnic characteristics, genetics, and dietary habits. Among individuals with stone disease experiencing at least one episode in their lifetime, the recurrence rate has been reported to be approximately 50% [1]. The prevalence of stone disease is 3-11% in Europe; however, in regions with hot climates, such as Africa and the Middle East, it can reach 20% [2,3]. In Türkiye, this rate was found to be 14.8% according to a study conducted by Akınci et al. [4].

Non-contrast computed tomography (CT) has now replaced urography as the gold standard due to its high sensitivity and accuracy in diagnosing urolithiasis and the incorporation of new techniques to reduce radiation doses [5,6]. In addition to the diagnosis of urolithiasis, CT also provides important information concerning stone location, stone density, stone size, stone volume, stone-to-skin distance, hydronephrosis, and perinephric stranding. Stone density is determined by measuring the Hounsfield unit (HU) of the stone on CT. Through these measurements, the hardness, composition, heterogeneity, or homogeneity of the stone can be calculated. This information is important for clinicians to determine the fragility of the stone [7-9]. Evaluation of stone density has been integrated into daily medical practice to decide on the best treatment option for urinary tract stone disease. It has been suggested that HU affects the success of lithotripsy in treatment methods such as extracorporeal shock wave lithotripsy (ESWL), ureterorenoscopy (URS), and percutaneous nephrolithotomy (PCNL) [10-12].

We hypothesized that stone density would affect the duration of lithotripsy performed with a Holmium laser as well as the postoperative stone-free outcome. Thus, large-volume kidney and ureteral stones with low stone density can be treated with URS and RIRS, and stone density can be an important determinant in case selection. In this study, we aimed to investigate the effect of stone density on the success of URS and RIRS in the treatment of kidney and ureteral stones.

Materials and Methods

After obtaining approval from the Ethics Committee of Bozok University Faculty of Medicine (approval number: 2018-KAEK-189_2018.02.27_13), the data of patients who underwent URS or RIRS due to kidney and ureteral stones from January 1, 2013, to March 31, 2018, were retrospectively screened. Patients who had undergone CT as an imaging modality and whose stone follow-up forms were completed were included in the study. Excluded from the sample were patients aged under 18 years, pregnant women, patients using anticoagulants, those with preoperative urinary tract infections, and those who had a double-J (DJ) stent placed due to reasons such as ureteral stenosis, surgical complications, inability to reach the stone, and pus discharge.

For all patients, age, gender, comorbidities, the American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) score, the preoperative presence of a DJ stent and an ESWL history, ipsilateral stone surgery history, the presence of renal anomalies, stone laterality, stone opacity, stone density, stone size, stone volume, operative time, stone-free status, and the presence of and size residual stones were recorded. Taking the length and width obtained from the transverse section and the depth obtained from the coronal plane on CT images, the longest measured diameter was determined as the stone size and recorded in mm. In the presence of multiple stones, stone size was determined by summing the longest diameters of each stone. Stone volume was calculated with the following formula: length x width x depth x 0.52. In the presence of multiple stones, stone volume was determined by calculating the stone volume of each stone and taking their total. In the measurement of stone density, the level where the stone had the largest diameter in transverse sections was determined. Using the circular drawing tool, the largest ellipse that remained in the stone was drawn. The average density of the area within the drawn ellipse was determined in HU. Postoperative DJ stent requirements were recorded. Postoperative DJ stenting was performed according to the surgeon's preference, taking into account factors such as operation time, ureteral calibration-edema, and complete fragmentation of the stone. Plain radiography or urinary ultrasonography was performed the third week after surgery to evaluate whether there was any residual stone. Stones below 2 mm were considered clinically insignificant residual fragments. The size of residual stones was also recorded.

Statistical Analysis

The obtained data were evaluated using the IBM-SPSS software package. Number, percentage, mean \pm standard deviation, median, minimum, maximum, and 25-75th percentile values were used as descriptive statistics. The Shapiro-Wilk test was conducted to compare continuous data. Since the normality test result revealed that the data did not comply with a normal distribution, non-parametric methods were employed. The Mann-Whitney U and Kruskal-Wallis tests were used to compare categorical groups, and Spearman correlation analysis was used to compare continuous data. P \leq 0.05 was accepted as the statistical significance level.

Results

The study included a total of 566 patients, of whom 186 (32.9%) were women and 380 (67.1%) were men. The mean age of the patients was 47 years. Of all patients, 108 (19.1%) had a history of RIRS, 58 (10.2%) had a history of URS, 28 (4.9%) had a history of PCNL, 16 (2.8%) had a history of open surgery, one (0.2%) had a history of pyeloplasty, and 21 (3.7%)had a history of other genitourinary operations. Preoperatively, DJ stents were present in 54 (9.5%) of the patients. The mean stone size was 10 mm, and the mean stone density was 886 HU. The mean stone volume was 426.13 mm^3 . Of the stones, 28.6%were in the distal ureter, 25.6% in the proximal ureter, 18.4% in the renal pelvis, 12.7% in the lower calyx, 3.2% in the upper calyx, 3% in the middle calyx, and 2.7% in the ureteropelvic junction, while the remaining 5.6% were multicalyceal. RIRS was performed in 265 (46.8%) of the patients, and URS in 301 (53.2%). The mean operative time was 31 minutes. The stonefree rate was 89.4%. Of all stones, 387 (68.4%) were opaque, and 179 (31.6%) were non-opaque. No DJ stent was required in

Table 1	Correlation ar	nalysis of stone	e density, st	tone size	stone volume.	residual s	stone size, a	ind one	rative time
I abit I	o Contenation a	indigois of stone	cuononcy, or	tone size, i	stone volume,	restauar	nome bize, a	ina ope	full ve tillle

	Stone density (HU)	Stone size (mm)	Stone volume (mm3)	Residual stone size (mm)	Operative time (min)
Stone density	-	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
Stone size	<0.001	-	<0.001	<0.001	< 0.001
Stone volume	<0.001	< 0.001	-	<0.001	<0.001
Residual stone size	< 0.001	<0.001	<0.001	-	<0.001
Operative time	<0.001	< 0.001	<0.001	<0.001	-

HU: Hounsfield unit

Table 2. Statistical comparison of stone density with other parameters

Stone density (HU)												
		Count	Column n %	Mean	SD	Median	Min	Max	Р			
Stone localization	Upper calyx	18	3.20%	1016	350	1165	404	1400	<0.001			
	Middle calyx	17	3.00%	889	386	1002	283	1388				
	Lower calyx	72	12.70%	943	382	960	322	1601				
	Pelvis	104	18.40%	1016	366	1100	330	1605				
	UPJ	15	2.70%	893	384	841	337	1522				
	Proximal ureter	145	25.60%	851	392	911	208	1674				
	Distal ureter	162	28.60%	760	367	737	108	1506				
	Multiple calyces	33	5.80%	1054	314	1110	305	1518				
Opacity	Non-opaque	179	31.60%	469	210	414	108	1450	<0.001			
	Opaque	387	68.40%	1079	280	1110	309	1674				
DJ stent requirement	Absent	28	4.90%	529	267	441	108	1303	< 0.001			
	Present	538	95.10%	905	381	938	119	1674				
Surgical technique	RIRS	265	46.80%	994	364	1056	283	1632	- <0.001			
	URS	301	53.20%	791	378	789	108	1674				

HU: Hounsfield unit; SD: standard deviation; UPJ: ureteropelvic junction; DJ: double-J; RIRS: retrograde intrarenal surgery; URS: ureterorenoscopy

28 (4.9%) of the patients after surgery. DJ stents were placed in 538 (95.1%) patients after the operation.

Correlation analysis revealed that as stone density increased, stone size (p<0.001), stone volume (p<0.001), residual stone size (p<0.001), and operative time (p<0.001) increased. In addition, as stone volume increased, residual stone size (p<0.001) and operative time (p<0.001) also increased (**Table 1**). There was a statistically significant relationship between stone density and stone localization (p<0.001). The highest stone density was detected in the upper calyx and the lowest stone density in the

distal ureter. The stone density of opaque stones was found to be significantly higher than that of non-opaque stones (p<0.001). Furthermore, stone density was significantly higher in patients with a postoperative DJ stent requirement than in the remaining patients (p<0.001) (**Table 2**). Among patients who were not stone-free, there was a significant positive correlation between stone density and residual stone size (p=0.003). In the stone-free group, stone density was significantly positively correlated with stone size (p<0.001), stone volume (p<0.001), and operative time (p<0.001) (**Table 3**).

Stone-free status		Stone density (HU)	Stone size (mm)	Stone volume (mm ³)	Operative time (min)	Residual stone size (mm)
	Stone density (HU)	-	0.310	0.232	0.455	0.003
	Stone size (mm)	0.310	-	< 0.001	< 0.001	<0.001
Absent	Stone volume (mm3)	0.232	< 0.001	-	< 0.001	< 0.001
	Operative time (min)	0.455	< 0.001	< 0.001	-	=0.001
	Residual stone size (mm)	=0.003	< 0.001	< 0.001	=0.001	-
	Stone density (HU)	-	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.894
	Stone size (mm)	< 0.001	-	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.372
	Stone volume (mm3)	< 0.001	< 0.001	-	< 0.001	0.043
	Operative time (min)	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	-	0.117
Present	Residual stone size (mm)	0.894	0.372	0.043	0.117	-

Table 3. Correlation analysis of stone density, stone size, stone volume, residual stone size, and operative time according to stone-free status

HU: Hounsfield unit

Discussion

With the developments in technology, treatment of urinary system stone disease has become more non-invasive and comfortable. When determining the treatment method, factors such as stone size, stone volume, stone localization, and stone density are taken into account. The main objective is to achieve stone-free status. However, residual stone fragments after treatment may cause new stone formation and lead to the need for repeated operations. In the current study, we investigated the effect of stone density on the success of URS and RIRS. Our results revealed that stone density was significantly positively correlated with operative time and residual stone size. In addition, we found that stone density was significantly correlated with residual stone size among patients that did not achieve stonefree status after treatment and with operative time among stonefree patients. These findings demonstrate the importance of the preoperative evaluation of stone density.

There was a significant relationship between stone localization and stone density. The highest stone density was found in the upper calyx, and the lowest stone density in the distal ureter. To the best of our knowledge, the literature contains no study comparing stone density according to stone localization. Our finding may indicate that high stone density negatively affects spontaneous stone passage. In two studies conducted in the literature on this subject, although the stone density of stones with spontaneous passage was lower than that of those without spontaneous passage, there was no statistically significant difference [13,14]. This may be due to the small number of patients. Based on the results of our study, we consider that there is a need for further studies with a higher volume to investigate the impact of stone density on the occurrence of spontaneous stone passage.

In this study, stone density was significantly higher in patients who required postoperative DJ stent placement than in those without this requirement. This can be attributed to the more effective fragmentation of low-density stones by laser and the shorter time of the procedure. The endourologist's decision may have been influenced by the expectation that effective fragmentation in a short time would reduce postoperative edema and pain. In the literature, the only study evaluating postoperative DJ stent requirements reported that a low stone burden, the presence of a ureteral stent, the absence of an access sheath, and a short operative time were associated with postoperative stentfree status [15]. Based on the results obtained from our study and the limited existing literature on this topic, further research is warranted to explore the use of postoperative DJ stents in patients undergoing URS or RIRS.

Stone density has been the subject of many investigations in the literature since it is a parameter that can be easily calculated on CT. Studies have reported that stone density is an important criterion in predicting the success of ESWL [16,17]. It is also a parameter included in the R.I.R.S. scoring system to predict the success of RIRS, and in an external validation study, this scoring system was determined to be an independent predictor of stone-free status [18,19]. Similarly, stone density is among the parameters included in the T.O.H.O score (Tallness, Occupied lesion, Hounsfield unit evaluation) scoring system used to predict RIRS success, and an external validation study reported this score to be an independent predictor of stone-free status [20,21]. In the current study, we observed a positive correlation between stone density, operative time, and residual stone size, consistent with the literature. Additionally, we found a positive correlation between stone density and residual stone size among patients who did not achieve stone-free status after surgery.

One of the important parameters affecting stone-free status in URS is stone diameter or volume. Scoring systems and external validation studies used to predict the success of RIRS have also found that stone size is one of the important parameters [18-22]. In our study, we detected a positive correlation between stone size, operative time, and residual stone size, consistent with the literature. Furthermore, we observed that among patients who were not stone-free after surgery, stone size was positively correlated with operative time and residual stone size.

Although URS and RIRS are safe procedures, infectious complications are frequently encountered. In previous studies, one of the important parameters that increased the risk of infectious complications was reported to be operative time [23,24]. In a study conducted with 219 patients who underwent RIRS, Ito et al. found that high stone density negatively affected fragmentation efficiency and reduced the efficiency of operative and fragmentation times in stones smaller than 20 mm [11]. In our study, there was a positive correlation between stone density and operative time, which is in agreement with the literature.

Concerning the limitations of our study, the major drawbacks are related to the retrospective design and the absence of stone analysis. Another limitation is that multivariate analysis was not performed to evaluate independent factors predicting stone-free status. The lack of complication evaluation can also be considered an important limitation. The notable findings of our study are that a statistically significant difference was detected between stone localization and stone density and that stone density was significantly higher in patients who required postoperative DJ stent placement than in those without this requirement.

Conclusion

In this study, it was determined that stone density, stone size, and stone volume were positively correlated with residual stone size and operative time. In addition, stone density was positively correlated with residual stone size in patients who did not achieve stone-free status, indicating that high stone density negatively affects stone-free status even in cases presenting with small stone size and volume preoperatively. That is, as the stone density increases, more time and energy must be spent to achieve the stone-free status. Preoperative determination of these parameters, which can be easily performed on CT, can facilitate the prediction of treatment success, and provide more patient information before surgery. We consider that this study will significantly contribute to the decision-making process of urologists when selecting the appropriate treatment in their daily clinical practice.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was received for this study from the ethics committee of Bozok University Faculty of Medicine (approval number: 2018-KAEK-189 2018.02.27 13).

Informed Consent: Written informed consent was obtained from patients who participated in this study.

Publication: The results of the study were not published in full or in part in form of abstracts.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Any contribution was not made by any individual not listed as an author. Concept – M.A., S.S., A.G.; Design – M.A., A.H.Y., S.S., A.G.; Supervision – F.K.Y., I.K., S.S., A.G.; Resources – M.A., A.T., A.H.Y.; Materials – M.A., A.T., A.H.Y.; Data Collection and/or Processing – M.A., S.S.; Analysis and/or Interpretation – A.T., F.K.Y., I.K.; Literature Search – M.A., A.T., A.H.Y., F.K.Y.; Writing Manuscript – M.A., A.T., I.K.; Critical Review – M.A., I.K., S.S., A.G.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest. **Financial Disclosure:** The authors declare that this study received no financial support.

References

- [1] EAU 2023 Guidelines on Urolithiasis, Arnhem, The Netherlands: EAU Guidelines Office; n.d.
- [2] Robertson WG, Peacock M, Baker M, Marshall DH, Pearlman B, Speed R, et al. Studies on the Prevalence and Epidemiology of Urinary Stone Disease in Men in Leeds. Br J Urol. 1983;55(6):595-8. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-410X.1983.tb03383.x
- [3] Vahlensieck EW, Bach D, Hesse A. Incidence, prevalence and mortality of urolithiasis in the German Federal Republic. Urol Res. 1982;10(4):161-4. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00255937
- [4] Akinci M, Esen T, Tellaloglu S. Urinary stone disease in Turkey: An updated epidemiological study. Eur Urol. 1991;20(3):200-3. https://doi.org/10.1159/000471700
- [5] Wiesenthal JD, Ghiculete D, John D'A Honey R, Pace KT. Evaluating the importance of mean stone density and skin-to-stone distance in predicting successful shock wave lithotripsy of renal and ureteric calculi. Urol Res. 2010;38(4):307-13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00240-010-0295-0
- [6] Andrabi Y, Patino M, Das CJ, Eisner B, Sahani D V., Kambadakone A. Advances in CT imaging for urolithiasis. Indian J Urol. 2015;31(3):185-93. https://doi.org/10.4103/0970-1591.156924
- [7] Gupta NP, Ansari MS, Kesarvani P, Kapoor A, Mukhopadhyay S. Role of computed tomography with no contrast medium enhancement in predicting the outcome of extracorporeal shock wave lithotripsy for urinary calculi. BJU Int. 2005;95(9):1285-8. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-410X.2005.05520.x
- [8] Yoshida S, Hayashi T, Ikeda J, Yoshinaga A, Ohno R, Ishii N, et al. Role of volume and attenuation value histogram of urinary stone on noncontrast helical computed tomography as predictor of fragility by extracorporeal shock wave lithotripsy. Urology. 2006;68(1):33-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.urology.2006.01.052

- [9] McCarthy CJ, Baliyan V, Kordbacheh H, Sajjad Z, Sahani D, Kambadakone A. Radiology of renal stone disease. Int J Surg. 2016;36(Pt D):638-46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsu.2016.10.045
- [10] El-Assmy A, Abou-El-Ghar ME, El-Nahas AR, Refaie HF, Sheir KZ. Multidetector computed tomography: Role in determination of urinary stones composition and disintegration with extracorporeal shock wave lithotripsyan in vitro study. Urology. 2011;77(2):286-90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.urology.2010.05.021
- [11] Ito H, Kawahara T, Terao H, Ogawa T, Yao M, Kubota Y, et al. Predictive value of attenuation coefficients measured as hounsfield units on noncontrast computed tomography during flexible ureteroscopy with holmium laser lithotripsy: A single-center experience. J Endourol. 2012;26(9):1125-30. https://doi.org/10.1089/end.2012.0154

[12] Gücük A, Üyetürk U, Öztürk U, Kemahli E, Yildiz M, Metin A. Does the hounsfield unit value determined by computed tomography predict the outcome of percutaneous nephrolithotomy? J Endourol. 2012;26(7):792-6. https://doi.org/10.1089/end.2011.0518

- [13] Hada A, Yadav SS, Tomar V, Priyadarshi S, Agarwal N, Gulani A. Assessment of factors affecting the spontaneous passage of lower ureteric calculus on the basis of lower ureteric calculus diameter, density, and plasma C- reactive protein level. Urol Ann. 2018;10(3):302-7. https://doi.org/10.4103/UA.UA 89 17
- [14] Erturhan S, Bayrak O, Mete A, Seckiner I, Urgun G, Sarica K. Can the Hounsfield unit predict the success of medically expulsive therapy? J Can Urol Assoc. 2013;7(11-12): E677-80. https://doi.org/10.5489/cuaj.352
- [15] Hamouche F, Unno R, Hakam N, Charondo LB, Yang H, Ahn J, et al. Clinical and postoperative characteristics of stentless ureteroscopy patients: a prospective analysis from ReSKU. Can J Urol. 2023;30(3):11532-7
- [16] El-Nahas AR, El-Assmy AM, Mansour O, Sheir KZ. A Prospective Multivariate Analysis of Factors Predicting Stone Disintegration by Extracorporeal Shock Wave Lithotripsy: The Value of High-Resolution Noncontrast Computed Tomography. Eur Urol. 2007;51(6):1688-94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eururo.2006.11.048

- [17] Nakasato T, Morita J, Ogawa Y. Evaluation of Hounsfield Units as a predictive factor for the outcome of extracorporeal shock wave lithotripsy and stone composition. Urolithiasis. 2015;43(1):69-75. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00240-014-0712-x
- [18] Xiao Y, Li D, Chen L, Xu Y, Zhang D, Shao Y, et al. The R.I.R.S. scoring system: An innovative scoring system for predicting stone-free rate following retrograde intrarenal surgery. BMC Urol. 2017;17(1):105. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12894-017-0297-0
- [19] Wang C, Wang ST, Wang X, Lu J. External validation of the R.I.R.S. scoring system to predict stone-free rate after retrograde intrarenal surgery. BMC Urol. 2021;21(1):33. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12894-021-00801-y
- [20] Hori S, Otsuki H, Fujio K, Kobayashi H, Nagao K, Nakajima K, et al. Novel prediction scoring system for simple assessment of stone-free status after flexible ureteroscopy lithotripsy: T.O.HO. score. Int J Urol. 2020;27(9):742-7. https://doi.org/10.1111/iju.14289
- [21] Senel S, Kasap Y, Kizilkan Y, Tastemur S, Ozden C. External validation of the T.O.HO. score as predictor of success after retrograde intrarenal surgery. BMC Urol. 2022;22(1):68. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12894-022-01018-3
- [22] Resorlu B, Unsal A, Gulec H, Oztuna D. A new scoring system for predicting stone-free rate after retrograde intrarenal surgery: The "resorlu-Unsal Stone Score." Urology. 2012;80(3):512-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.urology.2012.02.072
- [23] Baboudjian M, Gondran-Tellier B, Abdallah R, Sichez PC, Akiki A, Gaillet S, et al. Predictive risk factors of urinary tract infection following flexible ureteroscopy despite preoperative precautions to avoid infectious complications. World J Urol. 2020;38(5):1253-9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00345-019-02891-8
- [24] Moses RA, Ghali FM, Pais VM, Hyams ES. Unplanned Hospital Return for Infection following Ureteroscopy— Can We Identify Modifiable Risk Factors? J Urol. 2016;195(4 Pt 1):931–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.juro.2015.09.074



Partial Nephrectomy in Wilms Tumor: A Rarely Implemented Surgical Method Wilms Tümöründe Parsiyel Nefrektomi: Çok Nadir Uygulanan Bir Cerrahi Yöntem

Kenan Yalçın 🛈

Department of Urology, Tokat Gazi Osmanpasa University Faculty of Medicine, Tokat, Türkiye

Cite as: Yalçın K. Partial nephrectomy in Wilms tumor: A rarely implemented surgical method. Grand J Urol 2024;4(1):25-7

Submission date: 21 November 2023 Acceptance date: 26 December 2023 Online first: 02 January 2024 Publication date: 19 January 2024

Corresponding Author: Kenan Yalçın / Tokat Gazi Osmanpasa University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Tokat, Türkiye / krsyalcin@yahoo.com ORCID ID: 0000-0003-3560-5862

Abstract

Nephroblastoma (Wilms Tumor/WT) is the rare but the most common primary kidney tumor in children. The WT is generally diagnosed between ages of 1 and 5 and the most common diagnosis is the age of 3. Up to 95% of WTs are diagnosed correctly with imaging (ultrasound, computed tomography and magnetic resonance). Histopathologically tissue examination is implemented and subtypes are determined. Surgery is one of the key factors in WT treatment. Transperitoneal radical nephrectomy is the standard operation for unilateral WTs. Nephron sparing surgery (partial nephrectomy) is suggested only in selected cases with a single kidney or bilateral WT. Other treatment combination for Wilms tumor involves chemotherapy and radiation treatment. A patient who was diagnosed with Wilms tumor in the right kidney and underwent partial nephrectomy which is rarely implemented or recommended in selected cases is represented in this article.

Keywords: Wilms tumor, child, partial nephrectomy

Özet

Nefroblastoma (Wilms tümörü/WT) çocuklarda nadir fakat en sık görülen primer böbrek tümörüdür. WT tanısı genellikle 1 ile 5 yaş arasında konur ve en sık tanı 3 yaştır. WT'lerin %95'e kadarı görüntüleme (ultrason, bilgisayarlı tomografi ve manyetik rezonans) yöntemleri ile doğru şekilde teşhis edilir. Histopatolojik olarak ise doku incelemesi yapılır ve alt tipleri belirlenmektedir. Cerrahi WT tedavisinin temel taşlarından biridir. Tek taraflı WT'ler için transperitoneal radikal nefrektomi standart operasyondur. Nefron koruyucu cerrahi (parsiyel nefrektomi) yalnızca tek böbrekli veya iki taraflı WT'li seçilmiş hasta vakalarında uygulanması önerilmektedir. Wilms tümörünün diğer tedavi kombinasyonu ise kemoterapi ve radyasyon tedavisini içermektedir. Bu yazıda sağ böbrekte Wilms tümörü tanısı alan, çok nadiren yapılan veya seçilmiş vakalarda yapılması önerilen parsiyel nefrektomi yapılmış hasta sunulmaktadır.

Anahtar kelimeler: Wilms tümörü, çocuk, parsiyel nefrektomi

Introduction

Wilms tumor (WT) is the most common renal tumor in childhood period, affecting one in 10,000 children [1–3]. It is mostly seen between the ages of 2-4. WT is an embriological tumor that classically shows a triphasic histological complex structure originating from blastem, epithelial and stroma components. Besides that it may also includes cartilage, osteoid and neuronal elements [4].

The WT treatment is implemented with two distinctive methods: The Europe's International Society of Pediatric Oncology (SIOP) method which adopts the principle of initiating chemotherapy (CT) without tissue diagnosis and then surgical application and North America's National Wilms Tumor Study (NWTS), now known as the Children's Oncology Group method (COG) which carries out a treatment plan with tissue diagnosis. Primarly providing CT contributes to preventation of phase escalation due to tumor cells being shed during surgery and surgical complications that may occur in the presence of large-sized or thrombus but besides that has a disadvantage of providing unnecessary CT to the cases diagnosed histopathologically other than WT. In NWTS/COG method, although tissue diagnosis is the main criterion, the principle of providing CT first is adopted in very large tumors, bilateral cases and the presence of thrombus extending into the IVC or atrium. However, the most important factor determining the prognosis in both methods is the phase of tumor, whether it contains anaplasia and the positivity of biological indicators such as 1p, 16q LOH veya 11p15q LOH [2,3,5]. Surgery is one of the key factors in WT treatment.

Surgery is one of the key factors in WT treatment. Transperitoneal radical nephrectomy is standard operation for unilateral WTs. Nephron sparing surgery is suggested to be implemented in selected patient cases with single kidneys or bilateral WT. In this case report, a patient who diagnosed with Wilms tumor in right kidney at the age of 4 and underwent partial nephrectomy which is rarely implemented or suggested to be implemented in selected cases is represented.

Case

Our case is a 4-years old male patient who was brought to our clinic by his parents with the complaint of bleeding in the urine which had been going on for 1 month. Full blood cell count and biochemical values of the patient were within normal limit, there was 3+ hematuria in the urinalysis. In the urinary track ultrasound examination a 4 cm suspicious mass was seen in the lower pole of right kidney. Whole abdominal magnetic resonance imaging performed on the patient was reported as 'a mass lesion approximately 42x37 mm in size in the lower pole of the right kidney, with a smoothly circumscribed, encapsulated appearance, containing cystic areas, extending towards the renal pelvis, but not creating an appearance in favor of significant invasion findings and showing lower but heterogeneous contrast uptake compared to the renal parenchyma and other organs in the abdomen are normal (Figure 1). Partial nephrectomy decision was made due to the fact that the tumor was located in a single pole, infiltrated less than 1/3 of the kidney, there was no renal vein invasion, and there was surgical experience in this regard. The patient underwent right partial nephrectomy with the

provisional diagnosis of renal mass. Partial nephrectomy was 4,5x3,5x3 cm in size and in the form of yellowish brown tumor tissue with a diameter of 3.5 cm at a distance of 0.2 cm from the nearest surgical margin in cross sections. Microscopically, in the examination of the sections, a partially cystic tumor tissue with a generally solid pattern that is seperated from the kidney tissue with a distinct but irregular border line is seen. The tumor is comprised of 3 different components; epithelial component which is differentiated to generally tubular, partially glomerulus structures, blastomatous component characterized with primitive fusiform cells surrounding them and stromal component which formed bundles between them and partly showed prominent rhabdoid differentiation. In immunohistochemical studies, it was reported that positive colouration was detected in epithelial component with Pan-CK, in both the stromal and partly blastomatous components with vimentin, in rhabdomyoblastic cells with desmin. As a result of these histopathological findings, tumor was reported as WT with classical, triphasic features and appropriate histology (Figure 2). The patient then underwent chemotherapy and radiotherapy. No relapse was observed during patient's 8-years follow-up. No problems occured in the kidney that underwent partial nephrectomy within years (Figure 3).



Figure 1. Mass lesion approximately 42x37 mm in size in the lower pole of the right kidney, with a smoothly circumscribed, encapsulating appearance, containing cystic areas, extending toward the renal pelvis, but not creating appearance in favor of significant invasion findings and showing lower but heterogeneous contrast uptake compared to the renal parenchyma



Figure 2. H&EX20 epithelial component which is differentiated to generally tubular, partially glomerulus structures, blastomatous component characterized with primitive fusiform cells surrounding them and stromal component which formed bundles between them and partly showed prominent rhabdoid differentiation



Figure 3. View of the kidney that underwent partial nephrectomy at the last check-up

Discussion

Surgery is one of the key factors in WT treatment. The SIOP method in Europe suggests chemotherapy before surgery while COG in North America suggests operation before chemotherapy [6]. The direction of WT requires a multidisciplinary approach with the participation of pediatric radiologist, oncologist, surgeon and radiotherapist. Firstly, in order to determine the origin of tumor, its position as regards to surrounding tissue and vascular uptake the patient should be carefully evaluated in pre-operative period by using appropriate imaging techniques.

Transperitoneal radical nephrectomy is standard operation for unilateral WTs. Nephron sparing surgery is suggested only in selected patient cases with single kidney or bilateral WT [7]. It is discussed in unilateral cases whether it should be implemented by partial nephrectomy or enucleaction [8,9]. This approach is suggested only in synchronous or metachronous bilateral cases or single kidneys. Only less than 5% of unilateral WTs are appropriate for partial nephrectomy because most of the kidneys are locally progressed during diagnosis [8,10]. For partial resection surgical criteria are as follows: tumor is placed in a single pole and infiltrated less than 1/3 of the kidney; there is no renal vein invasion, surgeon has experience in pediatric oncology [8,11]. We think that our case will contribute to literature in a way that it is a case presentation diagnosed with Wilms tumor in the right kidney and underwent partial nephrectomy that is rarely implemented or suggested to implemented in selected cases.

Conclusion

Although radical nephrectomy was standard in cases which Wilms tumor was detected we would like to specify that partial nephrectomy operation may give successful results in selected cases.

Ethics Committee Approval: N / A.

Informed Consent: An informed consent was obtained from the patient's parents.

Publication: The results of the study were not published in full or in part in form of abstracts.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Any contribution was not made by any individual not listed as an author. Concept – K.Y.; Design – K.Y.; Supervision – K.Y.; Resources – K.Y.; Materials – K.Y.; Data Collection and/or Processing – K.Y.; Analysis and/ or Interpretation – K.Y.; Literature Search – K.Y.; Writing Manuscript – K.Y.; Critical Review – K.Y. **Conflict of Interest:** The author declares that there was no conflict of interest.

Financial Disclosure: The author declares that this study received no financial support.

References

- Szychot E, Apps J, Pritchard-Jones K. Wilms'tumor: biology, diagnosis and treatment. Transl Pediatr. 2014;3(1):12-24. https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2224-4336.2014.01.09
- [2] Davidoff AM. Wilms' tumor. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2009;21(3):357-64. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOP.0b013e32832b323a
- [3] Gleason JM, Lorenzo AJ, Bowlin PR, Koyle MA. Innovations in the management of Wilms' tumor. Ther Adv Urol. 2014;6(4):165-76. https://doi.org/10.1177/1756287214528023
- [4] Deng C, Dai R, Li X, Liu F. Genetic variation frequencies in Wilms' tumor: A meta-analysis and systematic review. Cancer Sci. 2016;107(5):690-9. https://doi.org/10.1111/cas.12910
- [5] Phelps H, Kaviany S, Borinstein S, Lovvorn H. Biological Drivers of Wilms Tumor Prognosis and Treatment. Children. 2018;5(11):145. https://doi.org/10.3390/children5110145
- [6] Metzger ML, Dome JS. Current Therapy for Wilms' Tumor. Oncologist. 2005;10(10):815-26. https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist.10-10-815
- Ko EY, Ritchey ML. Current management of Wilms' tumor in children. J Pediatr Urol. 2009;5(1):56-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpurol.2008.08.007
- [8] Murphy AJ, Davidoff AM. Nephron-sparing surgery for Wilms tumor. Front Pediatr. 2023;11:1122390. https://doi.org/10.3389/fped.2023.1122390
- [9] Ritchey ML. Nephron Sparing Surgery for Wilms Tumor-Where is the Future? J Urol. 2011;186(4):1179-80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.juro.2011.07.048
- [10] Wilimas JA, Magill L, Parham DM, Kumar M, Douglass EC. The Potential for Renal Salvage in Nonmetastatic Unilateral Wilms' Tumor. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol. 1991;13(3):342-4. https://doi.org/10.1097/00043426-199123000-00018
- [11] van Dalen EC, de Lijster MS, Leijssen LG, Michiels EM, Kremer LC, Caron HN, et al. Minimally invasive surgery versus open surgery for the treatment of solid abdominal and thoracic neoplasms in children. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2015;1(1):CD008403. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD008403.pub3



Prostate Cancer with Osteolytic Sternal Metastasis: A Rare Clinical Presentation

Osteolitik Sternal Metastazlı Prostat Kanseri: Nadir Bir Klinik Sunum

Somanatha Sharma¹, Kiritha Ranjani Ac², Sethu Ram Sharma¹

¹ Department of Urology, Samridh Multispecialty Hospitals, Chennai, India ² Department of Uro-gynecology, Samridh Multispecialty Hospitals, Chennai, India

Cite as: Sharma S, Ac KR, Sharma SR. Prostate cancer with osteolytic sternal metastasis: A rare clinical presentation. Grand J Urol 2024;4(1):28-31

Submission date: 26 December 2023 Acceptance date: 10 January 2024 Online first: 12 January 2024 Publication date: 19 January 2024

Corresponding Author: Somanatha Sharma / Samridh Multispecialty Hospitals, Department of Urology, Chennai, India / spideysoms@gmail.com ORCID ID: 0000-0002-4876-0389

Abstract

Chest wall malignancies are rare, constituting only 1% of all cancers. Prostate cancer, the second most common in men, typically metastasizes to bones, lymph nodes, and organs. However, sternum involvement is exceptionally rare, particularly with osteolytic metastasis. We report a 75-year-old man, clinically presenting with large anterior chest wall mass, which on further investigation revealed an expansile osteolytic sternal body metastasis from prostate cancer. This rarity poses diagnostic and therapeutic challenges, as documented cases of osteolytic secondaries to the sternum are scarce in medical literature. Diagnostic efforts involved comprehensive imaging and biopsy, confirming prostate cancer metastasis. Management requires a multidisciplinary approach, balancing effective cancer control with preserving the patient's quality of life through systemic therapies, radiation, and surgery. The scarcity of osteolytic sternal body metastasis in reported cases highlights the atypical pattern of metastasis in prostate cancer emphasizing the need for a deeper understanding and contributing to the knowledge of this uncommon manifestation.

Keywords: prostate cancer, sternal metastasis, osteolytic presentation, chest wall tumors, positron emission tomography, multidisciplinary approach

Özet

Göğüs duvarı maligniteleri nadirdir ve tüm kanserlerin yalnızca %1'ini oluşturur. Erkeklerde ikinci sıklıkta görülen prostat kanseri, genellikle kemiklere, lenf nodlarına ve organlara metastaz yapar. Bununla birlikte, özellikle osteolitik metastazlarda sternum tutulumu son derece nadirdir. Klinik olarak göğüs ön duvarında büyük bir kitle ile başvuran ve daha ileri incelemelerde prostat kanserinden kaynaklanan ekspansil osteolitik sternal vücut metastazını ortaya çıkaran 75 yaşında bir erkeği sunuyoruz. Bu nadirlik, tıbbi literatürde sternuma sekonder osteolitik sekonder vakaların az olması nedeniyle teşhis ve tedavi açısından zorluklar doğurmaktadır. Teşhis çabaları, prostat kanseri metastazını doğrulayan kapsamlı görüntüleme ve biyopsiyi içeriyordu. Yönetim, sistemik tedaviler, radyasyon ve cerrahi yoluyla hastanın yaşam kalitesinin korunmasıyla dengeleyen multidisipliner bir yaklaşımla etkili kanser kontrolünü gerektirir. Bildirilen vakalarda osteolitik sternal vücut metastazının azlığı, prostat kanserindeki atipik metastaz paterninin daha derin bir anlayışa ihtiyaç duyulduğunu vurgulayarak, bu nadir görülen tezahürün bilgisine katkıda bulunmaktadır.

Anahtar kelimeler: prostat kanseri, sternal metastaz, osteolitik başvuru, göğüs duvarı tümörleri, pozitron emisyon tomografisi, multidisipliner yaklaşım

© Copyright 2024 by GJU. Prostate Cancer with Osteolytic Sternal Metastasis: A Rare Clinical Presentation by Somanatha Sharma is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License which permits unrestricted non-commercial re-use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Introduction

Chest wall malignancies are considered rare, constituting approximately 1% of all malignancies. These malignancies may originate primarily from bone or soft tissue, result from the infiltration of adjacent organ malignancies, or occur secondary to distant metastasis, with the latter being the predominant cause [1]. Prostate cancer, ranking as the second most diagnosed cancer in men and the fourth most common overall, typically exhibits metastasis to various sites, including bone, lymph nodes, lung, bladder, liver, and adrenal glands [2].

While the literature reports prostatic metastases to almost every organ in the body, involvement of the sternum is notably infrequent in prostate cancer cases [3]. Within sternum involvement, osteosclerotic metastasis have been documented, yet osteolytic metastasis in the sternum due to prostate cancer remains an exceedingly rare occurrence, lacking documented cases in medical literature [4].

This article presents a noteworthy case of metastatic prostate cancer, wherein the clinical presentation manifested as a sizable sternal mass. Further evaluation revealed an expansile osteolytic sternal body metastasis in a 75-year-old gentleman. The peculiarity of this manifestation, along with its diagnostic and therapeutic challenges, underscores the need for a detailed examination of such atypical cases.

Case

A 75-year-old male presented with a painful swelling on the chest wall that gradually increased in size. Upon clinical examination, an 11 cm x 8 cm bony hard, non-mobile, and nontender mass was identified (Figure 1). Vital signs were within normal limits. Computed Tomography of the chest identified an expansile osteolytic lesion in the body of the sternum without any abnormal lesions in the mediastinum or lung parenchyma (Figure 2). An 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography/computed tomography (18F-FDG PET/CT) was performed showing an expansile osteolytic metastatic lesion in the sternum and diffuse osteolytic skeletal metastasis with a non-homogenously enlarged prostate (Figure 3,4). No history of lower urinary tract symptoms was reported, while a digital rectal examination indicated a hard prostate prompting serum prostate-specific antigen (PSA) level which was found to be elevated (1347 ng/mL).

Confirmation through CT-guided biopsy demonstrated metastatic deposits originating from the prostate, while a transrectal ultrasound-guided biopsy of the prostate revealed a primary adenocarcinoma with a Gleason score of 5+5. Initiation of treatment with a subcutaneous injection of degarelix (240 mg loading dose), a gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) receptor antagonist, resulted in a significant reduction in



Figure 1. The anterior (A) and lateral view (B) of a large anterior chest wall mass with bony-hard consistency showing the size and extent of the painful bone mass



Figure 2. Computed Tomography of the chest with a soft tissue window, revealing bony metastasis in the sternum, with no apparent lung or mediastinal lesions evident





Figure 4. Sagittal view of Computed Tomography/ Positron Emission Tomography reveals an enlarged and non-homogeneously enhancing prostate with hypermetabolic activity noted in

mediastinal nodes (retrosternal and both internal mammary regions), an expansile lytic lesion in the sternum ($95.5 \times 61.3 \text{ mm}$), and multiple lytic lesions in the axial and appendicular skeleton

Figure 3. A coronal view of a Positron Emission Tomography reveals widespread bony metastasis affecting both the axial and appendicular skeleton

pain. Following consultations with a multidisciplinary team comprising medical oncologists, radiation oncologists, and pathologists, a consensus was reached. The decision to commence hormonal therapy was made, and based on the treatment response, radiotherapy may or may not be considered for sternal metastasis. Currently, the patient is receiving injection leuprolide (11.25 mg), a gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) agonist, alendronate (bisphosphonate) and calcium with vitamin D 3. The patient is pain-free at the end of a one-month follow-up.

Discussion

Prostate cancer ranks as the second most frequently diagnosed cancer in men, registering an estimated 1.4 million global diagnoses in 2020 [5]. In the hierarchy of metastatic occurrences, the typical sites include the bone (90%), lung (46%), liver (25%), pleura (21%), and adrenals (13%) [6]. While the spine, pelvis, and ribs are the most common sites of bone metastasis in prostate cancer, sternum involvement is rare [7].

The sternum, comprising the manubrium, corpus, and xiphoid process, exhibits distinct patterns of metastasis. Corpus sternum involvement is more prevalent in lung cancer, whereas prostate cancer may manifest in the manubrium and xiphoid [8]. Adenocarcinomas of prostate cancer demonstrate osteotropism, giving rise to both osteosclerotic and osteolytic lesions, with sclerotic metastasis being a predominant feature [9].

Chest wall tumors can be primary or metastatic with latter being the most common. Metastatic tumors to the chest wall commonly arise from primary cancers in nearby organs such

as the breast, lung, kidney, and thyroid, among others. A significant portion, roughly twenty percent, is incidentally discovered through chest radiographs, with sarcomas like chondrosarcomas, osteosarcomas, rhabdomyosarcomas, plasmacytomas, malignant fibrous histiocytomas, and Ewing sarcomas forming the primary malignant chest wall tumors [10].

While there are case reports documenting the metastatic involvement of the chest wall, including the sternum, in the context of prostate cancer, it is noteworthy that there is a scarcity of data specifically addressing osteolytic sternal body metastasis in published literature.

In a comparative study by Wang et al., sternal metastasis in prostate cancer was reported at 1.72% in few bony metastases, 0.62% in moderate metastases, and 3.14% in extensive bony metastases, signifying its rarity in this context [11]. The utility of positron emission tomography in staging, treatment response evaluation, and recurrent disease detection in chest wall tumors is acknowledged [12].

Although an extensive meta-analysis by Carsote et al. reported a staggering 68% involvement of chest wall (ribs + sternum) metastasis in prostate cancer, the specific data on sternal metastasis remains elusive [13]. Noteworthy cases reported by Roxburgh et al. and Matei et al. were predominantly osteoblastic secondaries, setting this case apart as a unique instance of osteolytic sternal secondaries from prostate cancer, clinically presenting as a sternal mass without urinary symptoms [14,15].

The evaluation of serum prostate-specific antigen (PSA), an aspect not routinely included in pre-operative assessments

for chest wall tumors, played a pivotal role in confirming the diagnosis in this distinctive case. After the establishment of sternal metastases, comprehensive medical interventions involving radiotherapy, hormonal therapy, or chemotherapy become imperative, irrespective of the metastatic lesion's location and size.

When confronted with sternal metastases in isolation, a spectrum of therapeutic strategies comes into play. Established modes of treatment include surgical excision of the tumor, accompanied by sternum reconstruction using materials like titanium mesh, locking titanium plates, or allogenic transplants, along with stereotactic radiotherapy [16].

Conclusion

In conclusion, this case, presenting an exceedingly rare manifestation of osteolytic sternal metastasis from prostate cancer, underscores the complexity of metastatic involvement in the chest wall, particularly the sternum. The scarcity of similar cases in the literature calls for enhanced understanding and recognition of such atypical presentations. It underscores the importance of advanced diagnostic tools, like PET scans, for effective evaluation. The treatment of such metastases is characterized by consistent approaches, emphasizing the necessity of individualized and multidisciplinary management strategies. Notably, the positive response to GnRH injection in this case suggests the potential role of hormonal treatments, highlighting an area for further research. This report contributes significantly to the limited existing literature on this topic, underlining the need for continued research and comprehensive management of these unique clinical scenarios.

Ethics Committee Approval: N / A.

Informed Consent: An informed consent was obtained from the patient.

Publication: The results of the study were not published in full or in part in form of abstracts.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Any contribution was not made by any individual not listed as an author. Concept – S.S., K.R.A., S.R.S.; Design – S.S., K.R.A., S.R.S.; Supervision – S.S., K.R.A., S.R.S.; Resources – S.S., K.R.A., S.R.S.; Materials – S.S., K.R.A., S.R.S.; Data Collection and/or Processing – S.S., K.R.A., S.R.S.; Analysis and/or Interpretation – S.S., K.R.A., S.R.S.; Literature Search – S.S., K.R.A., S.R.S.; Writing Manuscript – S.S., K.R.A., S.R.S.; Critical Review – S.S., K.R.A., S.R.S.

Conflict of Interest: The author declares that there was no conflict of interest.

Financial Disclosure: The author declares that this study received no financial support.

References

- Smith SE, Keshavjee S. Primary chest wall tumors. Thorac Surg Clin. 2010;20(4):495-507. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.thorsurg.2010.07.003
- [2] Culp MB, Soerjomataram I, Efstathiou JA, Bray F, Jemal A. Recent Global Patterns in Prostate Cancer Incidence and Mortality Rates. Eur Urol. 2020;77(1):38-52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eururo.2019.08.005
- [3] Segamwenge IL, Mgori NK, Abdallahyussuf S, Mukulu CN, Nakangombe P, Ngalyuka PK, et al. Cancer of the prostate presenting with diffuse osteolytic metastatic bone lesions: a case report. J Med Case Rep. 2012;6:425. https://doi.org/10.1186/1752-1947-6-425
- [4] Corkum MT. Prostate Cancer With Isolated Bony Metastasis: Sternal Struggle. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2017;98(3):492-3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2017.03.035
- [5] International Agency for Research on Cancer. WHO. Data visualization tools for exploring the global cancer burden in 2020. https://gco.iarc.fr/today/home
- [6] Bubendorf L, Schöpfer A, Wagner U, Sauter G, Moch H, Willi N, et al. Metastatic patterns of prostate cancer: an autopsy study of 1,589 patients. Hum Pathol. 2000;31(5):578-83. https://doi.org10.1053/hp.2000.6698
- [7] Kakhki VR, Anvari K, Sadeghi R, Mahmoudian AS, Torabian-Kakhki M. Pattern and distribution of bone metastases in common malignant tumors. Nucl Med Rev Cent East Eur. 2013;16(2):66-9. https://doi.org/10.5603/NMR.2013.0037
- [8] Aydin N, Ak Sivrikoz I, Saylisoy S, Sahin MC, Yavuz B, Calisir C et al. Correlation of Lesions Evaluated as Sternal Metastases on the Computed Tomography of the Thorax with Primary Malignancies of Patients. Journal Med Inv Tech. 2020;2(1):79-84. https://dergipark.org.tr

- [9] Logothetis CJ, Lin SH. Osteoblasts in prostate cancer metastasis to bone. Nat Rev Cancer. 2005;5(1):21-8. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1528
- [10] Bajaj T, Aboeed A. Chest Wall Tumors. [Updated 2023 Sep 4]. In: *StatPearls* [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL). StatPearls Publishing: 2023
- [11] Wang CY, Wu GY, Shen MJ, Cui KW, Shen Y. Comparison of distribution characteristics of metastatic bone lesions between breast and prostate carcinomas. Oncol Lett. 2013;5(1):391-7. https://doi.org/10.3892/o1.2012.1005
- [12] Carter BW, Benveniste MF, Betancourt SL, de Groot PM, Lichtenberger JP 3rd, Amini B, et al. Imaging Evaluation of Malignant Chest Wall Neoplasms. Radiographics. 2016;36(5):1285-306. https://doi.org/10.1148/rg.2016150208
- [13] Zhang Y, Wang J, Ding L, Zheng Y, Wu C, Wang K, et al. Development and validation of a novel risk model in newly diagnosed de novo bone metastatic prostate cancer (M1b): a retrospective study. PeerJ. 2023;11:e14615. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.14615
- [14] Roxburgh C, Swami S. Prostate Cancer Presenting As A Chest Wall Tumour. The Internet Journal of Urology. 2006;4:2. https://doi.org/10.5580/30f
- [15] Matei V, Bhushan S. Chest-Wall Metastasis of Prostate Cancer. J Gen Intern Med. 2015;30(12):1888. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-015-3270-1
- [16] Corbin KS, Hellman S, Weichselbaum RR. Extracranial oligometastases: a subset of metastases curable with stereotactic radiotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(11):1384-90. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2012.45.9651



A Rare Clinical Condition That Can Mimic Bladder Malignancy: Primary Bladder Amyloidosis

Mesane Malignitesini Taklit Edebilen Nadir Bir Klinik Durum: Primer Mesane Amiloidozu

Saurabh Kumar Negi 🕲, Sandip Desai 🕲, Gaurav Faujdar 🕲, Ram Dayal Sahu 🕲, Somendra Bansal 🕲 Shivam Priyadarshi 🕲

Department of Urology, Rajasthan University of Health Sciences, SMS Medical College and Hospital, Jaipur, Rajasthan, India

Cite as: Negi SK, Desai S, Faujdar G, Sahu RD, Bansal S, Priyadarshi S. A rare clinical condition that can mimic bladder malignancy: Primary bladder amyloidosis. Grand J Urol 2024;4(1):32-4

Submission date: 02 January 2024 Acceptance date: 12 January 2024 Online first: 15 January 2024 Publication date: 19 January 2024

Corresponding Author: Saurabh Kumar Negi / Department of Urology, Rajasthan University of Health Sciences, SMS Medical College and Hospital, Jaipur, India negisaurabh375@gmail.com / ORCID ID: 0009-0003-6293-8205

Abstract

Amyloidosis is related to the extracellular deposition of abnormal protein fibrils in various tissues. It is clinically interesting that such cases' clinical, radiological, and even endoscopic presentation mimic urothelial carcinoma to a great extent. Here, we discuss a case of a 34-year-old gentleman who presented with frank painless hematuria. The patient was diagnosed with a bladder mass suspicious of malignancy depending on the clinical presentation aided by the cystoscopic and radiological evaluation. Histopathologic samples of the transurethral resection of the mass proved to be primary bladder amyloidosis. Further investigations of systemic illness excluded the secondary amyloidosis. The purpose of this case presentation is to create awareness among the urologists to think for the rare entity of urinary amyloidosis especially if the histopathology is negative for the malignant cells.

Keywords: amyloidosis, TUR, malignancy, Congo red

Özet

Amiloidoz, anormal protein fibrillerinin çeşitli dokularda hücre dışı birikmesiyle ilişkilidir. Bu tür vakaların klinik, radyolojik ve hatta endoskopik görünümlerinin ürotelyal karsinomu büyük ölçüde taklit etmesi klinik açıdan ilginçtir. Burada ağrısız hematüri şikayetiyle başvuran 34 yaşındaki erkek olguyu tartışıyoruz. Sistoskopik ve radyolojik değerlendirmenin yardımıyla hastaya klinik tabloya göre malignite şüphesi taşıyan mesane kitlesi tanısı konuldu. Kitlenin transüretral rezeksiyonunun histopatolojik örneklerinin primer mesane amiloidozu olduğu kanıtlandı. Sistemik hastalıkla ilgili daha ileri araştırmalar sekonder amiloidozu dışladı. Bu olgu sunumunun amacı ürologlar arasında nadir görülen bir durum olan üriner amiloidozun, özellikle de histopatolojinin malign hücreler için negatif olduğu durumlarda düşünülmesi konusunda farkındalık yaratmaktır.

Anahtar kelimeler: amiloidoz, TUR, malignite, Kongo kırmızısı

Introduction

Amyloidosis is a rare disease characterized by deposition of extracellular, hyaline and proteinaceous material in various organs. Amyloidosis can be primary, secondary, and hereditary. Localized amyloidosis of the urinary bladder is rare easily confused with an infiltrating tumor on imaging and cystoscopy [1]. Accurate diagnosis depends on biopsy showing negative malignant cells and presence of amyloid fibrils on cong red staining.

Case

34 yr male patient with gross hematuria. H/o smoking. Urinary ultrasonography showed that bladder mass of 3x2cm on left lateral wall. Urine for malignant cytology negative. Magnetic resonance imaging showed that 3x2.5 cm hyperintense mass in left lateral wall of urinary bladder s/o neoplastic etiology (Figure 1). Patient underwent cystoscopy and complete transurethral bladder tumour resection (TUR). Patient dicharge on day 3 and follow up in outpatient department with histopathology report come to be amyloidosis (Figure 2). After that patient underwent investigations to rule out systemic amyloidosis which were normal. Patient also underwent cystoscopy at 3 month and found to be normal. Now on regular follow up.



Figure 1. MRI images showing bladder mass on left lateral wall of UB



Figure 2. (A) Microscopy of tumour and (B) Congo red stain examined under polarized light shows characteristic applegreen birefringence appearence

Discussion

Amyloidosis can be either primary (AL) associated with immunocyte dyscrasia or secondary (AA) as a complication of chronic inflammation. The involvement of the kidney more common in secondary amyloidosis about 57% of all systemic didease, whereas in primary amyloidosis, the urinary bladder is more [2,3]. On imaging and cystoscopy poses diagnostic dilemma mimic malignacy. Biopsy will confirm diagnosis. TUR of lesion is successful treatment in most cases, medical therapy show only limited success. long- term follow-up with cystoscopy is indicated for recurrent amyloidosis [4].

Amyloidosis is a rare disease that occurs when an abnormal protein (amyloid) builds up in organs and interferes with their normal function. A very similar to that of bladder malignancy in regards to its presentation. A recently published systematic review by Pyrgidis et al (2021), 184 cases were reported, among 184 cases, 21.7% were asian [4]. Depending on the degree of disease involvement, patients may present with painless hematuria, irritative urinary symptoms, and obstructive symptoms. Urine cytology cannot distinguish amyloidosis from carcinoma because of the subendothelial location of most amyloid deposits and limited sensitivity for urothelial carcinoma. Definitive diagnosis of amyloidosis is achieved with biopsy. Like in our case, congo red staining of amyloid under light microscopywith polarized light produced the appearance of apple green birefringence. Although amyloidosis and bladder cancer's gross picture can look similar, it is easy to differentiate amyloidosis from urothelial carcinoma by light microscopy. On the one hand, amyloidosis is an acellular process, but on the other hand, urothelial carcinoma is a very cellular process. Another differential diagnosis besides urothelial carcinoma is chronic cystitis with fibrosis. Amyloidosis and cystitis can be associated with severe inflammation and deposition of proteinaceous material.

Conclusion

Adiagnosis of bladder amyloidosis is challenging, particularly when primary bladder malignancy has been suspected surgical pathologists and urologist to be aware of the unusual findings of urinary bladder amyloidosis for accurate diagnosis and workup.

Ethics Committee Approval: N / A.

Informed Consent: An informed consent was obtained from the patient.

Publication: The results of the study were not published in full or in part in form of abstracts.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Any contribution was not made by any individual not listed as an author. Concept – S.K.N., S.D.; Design – S.K.N., S.D.; Supervision – S.K.N., S.P.; Resources – G.F., R.D.S., S.B.; Materials – G.F., S.B.; Data Collection and/ or Processing – S.K.N., G.F., R.D.S., S.B.; Analysis and/or Interpretation – S.K.N., G.F., S.B.; Literature Search – G.F.,R.D.S., S.B.; Writing – S.K.N., S.D.; Critical Review – S.K.N., S.P Conflict of Interest: The author declares that there was no conflict of interest.

Financial Disclosure: The author declares that this study received no financial support.

References

- Sibira RM, Albakar A, Younes N, Albozom IA, Al Rumaihi K. Primary bladder amyloidosis mimicking bladder cancer complicated by bladder rupture: A case report. Clin Case Rep. 2021;9(11):e05140. https://doi.org/10.1002/ccr3.5140
- [2] Muchtar E, Gertz MA, Kyle RA, Lacy MQ, Dingli D, Leung N, et al. A Modern Primer on Light Chain Amyloidosis in 592 Patients With Mass Spectrometry-Verified Typing. Mayo Clin Proc. 2019;94(3):472-83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2018.08.006
- [3] Dember LM. Modern treatment of amyloidosis: unresolved questions. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2009;20(3):469-72. https://doi.org/10.1681/ASN.2008070793
- [4] Pyrgidis N, Mykoniatis I, Pegios VF, Sokolakis I, Hatzichristodoulou G, Bourdoumis A, et al. Amyloidosis of the Urinary Bladder: A Systematic Review and a Proposed Management Algorithm. Urology. 2021;156:e12-e19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.urology.2021.07.013